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WRONG LINE: PROPOSING A NEW TEST FOR DISCRIMINATION 
UNDER THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS ACT*

Joshua D. Rosenberg Daneri** and Paul A. Thomas***

ABSTRACT:

There has long been a consensus among scholars and union-side practitioners that 
the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA) is under-enforced. As a result, employers often 
treat violations of the NLRA as a cost of doing business rather than a serious violation of 
a federal statute. Calls for reform have historically tended to propose legislative 
amendments to the NLRA to constrain employer conduct and impose greater 
consequences for discrimination violations. However, little attention has been given to 
improving the flawed legal test by which such discrimination is analyzed, Wright Line, 
251 N.L.R.B. 1083 (1980), enforced 662 F.2d 899 (1st Cir. 1981), cert. denied 455 U.S. 
989 (1982). In this article, we propose a new causation test that better addresses how 
adjudicators should weigh the evidence that Congress and jurists have deemed relevant 
for evaluating discrimination claims. Our test lightens the initial burden to establish a 
showing of discrimination, formalizes the employer’s defense burden, and then provides 
a rebuttal burden for the discriminatee. This is no radical departure from historical 
precedent. Rather, we argue that the original Wright Line decision itself contained hints 
of our test, but that adjudicators and practitioners alike have whittled Wright Line to an 
oversimplified shell at best and an ambiguous, complex inquiry at worst. Our test better 
fulfills the NLRA’s objective of promoting collective bargaining in the private sector by 
encouraging a deeper inquiry in NLRA cases’ pre-litigation investigative stage.

* The analysis and views expressed in this article are solely our own and do not represent 
the views of the National Labor Relations Board, its General Counsel, or the United States Gov-
ernment. We give special thanks to former Board Member and former Regional Director Dennis P. 
Walsh for his feedback.
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Editor at Temple Law Review; Master of Industrial & Labor Relations, Cornell University; Bachelor 
of Arts, New College of Florida.
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I. INTRODUCTION

There has long been a consensus among scholars and union-side 
practitioners that the National Labor Relations Act1 (NLRA) is under-
enforced.2 As a result, violations of the NLRA are often treated as a cost 
of doing business rather than a serious violation of a federal statute.3

Calls for reform have historically tended to propose legislative amend-
ments4 to the NLRA to constrain employer conduct and impose greater 
consequences for discrimination violations.5 But reform has proved 
chimerical; the last significant amendments to the NLRA of any sort 

1. 29 U.S.C. §§ 151–87.
2. See Charles J. Morris, A Tale of Two Statutes: Discrimination for Union Activity Under the NLRA 

and RLA, 2 EMP. RTS. & EMP. POL’Y J. 317 (1998); Wilma B. Liebman, Decline and Disenchantment: Re-
flections on the Aging of the National Labor Relations Board, 28 BERKELEY J. EMP. & LAB. L. 569, 576 (2007); 
Benjamin I. Sachs, Enabling Employee Choice: A Structural Approach to the Rules of Union Organizing, 123 
HARV. L. REV. 655, 680–85 (2010).

3. See Celine McNicholas, Margaret Poydock, Julia Wolfe, Ben Zipperer, Gordon Lafer &
Lola Loustaunau, Unlawful: U.S. employers are charged with violating federal law in 41.5% of all union elec-
tion campaigns (Dec. 19, 2019), https://www.epi.org/publication/unlawful-employer-opposition-to-
union-election-campaigns/ [https://perma.cc/4ZPB-G9EV]; Kate Bronfenbrenner, No Holds Barred–
The Intensification of Employer Opposition to Organizing, ECON. POL’ INST. AND AM. RTS. AT WORK EDUC.
FUND 8 (May 20, 2009), https://www.epi.org/publication/bp235/ [https://perma.cc/LP27-UXCX].

4. E.g., Brishen Rogers, Passion and Reason in Labor Law, 47 HARV. C.R.-C.L. L. REV. 313, 363 
(2012); Benjamin I. Sachs, Revitalizing Labor Law: The David E. Feller Memorial Lecture, 31 BERKELEY J.
EMP. & LAB. L. 333 (2010); William B. Gould IV, Labor Law and Its Limits: Some Proposals for Reform, 49 
WAYNE L. REV. 667 (2003).

5. See Employee Free Choice Act of 2009, H.R. 1409, 111th Cong., which would have awarded 
treble backpay and civil penalties for violations of the law committed during organizing drives. See 
also the Protecting the Right to Organize (PRO) Act of 2021, H.R. 842, 117th Cong., which would 
allow any person to bring a civil action for harm caused by violations; permit attorney fees, front 
pay, consequential, liquidated, and punitive damages for discrimination; and permit the Board to 
impose personal liability on corporate directors and officers who participate in violations or have 
knowledge of and fail to prevent such violations.
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were in 1959 and no major pro-union NLRA reform has ever been enact-
ed.6

Despite the best efforts of the NLRB and union-side counsel, it is 
far too easy to defeat a charge of discrimination under the NLRA. 
Wright Line requires the NLRB’s General Counsel (sometimes called the
GC) to establish, by a preponderance of the evidence, that activity pro-
tected by Section 7 of the NLRA was a motivating factor in the adverse 
action taken against the employee.7 This “initial showing” of discrimi-
nation typically requires activity protected by Section 7 of the NLRA, 
employer knowledge of that activity, and that an adverse action was 
motivated by animus against the very same protected activity.8 Upon 
establishing this initial showing, the burden then shifts to the employer 
to show that it would have taken the adverse action even absent the pro-
tected activity.9 As such, Wright Line permits an employer to defeat even 
strong evidence of discrimination through persuasive inferences of 
what the employer might have done under a counterfactual scenario. 
Thus, no matter how strong of an initial showing by the General Coun-
sel, the employer can craft a narrative of an alternate reality through 
which it may escape liability. As we will explore in Part 5 of this Article, 
employers have developed an all-too-successful bag of tricks resulting 
in a considerable percentage of discrimination cases never making it to 
a hearing,10 let alone review by the Board—the NLRB’s five-person qua-
si-judicial panel appointed by the President of the United States—or a 
reviewing court. While amending the NLRA to require harsher conse-
quences for a violation might increase legal expenses for violating em-

6. Labor Management Reporting and Disclosure Act of 1959, Pub. L. No. 86-257 (1959).
7. Wright Line, 251 N.L.R.B. 1083 (1980), enforced, 662 F.2d 899 (1st Cir. 1981), cert. denied 455 

U.S. 989 (1982). Section 7 – the core substantive guarantee of the NLRA – states in pertinent part 
that “[e]mployees shall have the right to self-organization, to form, join, or assist labor organiza-
tions, to bargain collectively through representatives of their own choosing, and to engage in other 
concerted activities for the purpose of collective bargaining or other mutual aid or protection, and 
shall also have the right to refrain from any or all of such activities[.]” 29 U.S.C. § 157.

8. Tschiggfrie Properties, Ltd., 368 N.L.R.B. No. 120, slip op. at 8 (Nov. 22, 2019).
9. Id.

10. See NAT’L LAB. RELS. BD., NLRB FY2020 PERFORMANCE ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT 19–20, 30, 
https://www.nlrb.gov/sites/default/files/attachments/pages/node-130/nlrb-fy2020-par-508.pdf
[https://perma.cc/Y6HN-RQ7H]. In fiscal year 2020, the General Counsel found meritorious only 
35.2% of the 15,869 unfair-labor-practice charges filed; issued 809 complaints; and prevailed on at 
least one of the complaint pleadings in 83.4% of trials. Statistics from prior Performance Accounta-
bility Reports, spanning since 2004, show a similar pattern. To access prior Performance Accounta-
bility Reports, see NAT’L LAB. RELS. BD., PERFORMANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY, https://www.nlrb.gov/
reports/agency-performance/performance-and-accountability [https://perma.cc/GT93-2W4P].
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ployers, such amendments would do little to rein in some of these effec-
tive anti-union tactics.11

In an effort to address the ineffectiveness of the current statutory 
protections against discrimination, some commenters have proposed 
principally procedural reforms. One such reform, discussed more fully 
below, would have the NLRB delegate to the General Counsel the au-
thority to independently and swiftly seek injunctions under Section 10(j) 
of the NLRA, eliminating some of the bureaucratic stumbling blocks 
that ordinarily impede petitioning a district court for a preliminary re-
instatement order.12

While reforms to NLRB procedure are both necessary and im-
portant, they will fail if the causation test for issuing a discriminatory-
discharge complaint remains as strongly pro-employer as it currently is. 
No complaint, no injunction—it is that simple.13 As we explore in Part 5
of this Article, over 90% of the NLRA’s discrimination claims are dis-
posed of in the NLRB’s 26 Regional Offices, which investigate charges 
and attempt to settle the dispute before any hearing.14 If the employer 
wins the battle because a Regional Director dismisses the case, the 
charging party’s only option is to file an appeal in the hopes that, several 
months later, the General Counsel remands the case to the Region.15 By 
then, the damage is done, and the General Counsel is unlikely to satisfy 
the “irreparable harm” prong that most jurisdictions require for a pre-
liminary injunction. 16 If the Regions use a flawed test to analyze dis-
crimination, the charging party may never get its day in court. Put 
bluntly: the problem is even worse than it seems, because facile analyses
of charges under Wright Line make otherwise-meritorious cases slip 
through the cracks.

Based on the foregoing, efforts to improve the enforcement of the 
NLRA must address how Regional Directors conduct investigations and 

11. In the criminal context, it is fairly well established that the likelihood of being caught is a 
far more effective deterrent than the penalty for being caught. National Institute for Justice, Five 
Things About Deterrence, https://www.ojp.gov/pdffiles1/nij/247350.pdf [https://perma.cc/64C6-
XLP8] (May 2016) (summarizing research on this point). Although we are unaware of any parallel 
research in the labor law context, we are also unaware of any reason to think the observed behavior 
of parties would be different.

12. Charles J. Morris, A Tale of Two Statutes Redux: Anti-Union Employment Discharges under the 
NLRA and RLA, with a Solution, 40 BERKELEY J. EMP. & LAB. L. 295, 325 (2019).

13. 29 U.S.C. § 160(j) (requiring issuance of complaint prior to application for injunctive re-
lief).

14. The settlement rate was 96% in fiscal year 2020. Of 5,236 cases that settled, 89.2% settled 
before a complaint was issued, suggesting confidence in the NLRB’s investigative processes. See 
NLRB FY2020 PERFORMANCE ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT, supra note 13, at 7.

15. See generally 29 C.F.R. § 102.19 (describing the internal appeals process).
16. SeeWinter v. NRDC, Inc., 555 U.S. 7, 20 (2008).
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how they weigh the evidence presented by practitioners. Our proposed 
test would motivate discriminatees to file charges, require employers to 
provide more robust defenses, and formalize a second burden-shift 
back to the General Counsel. This rebuttal burden would require practi-
tioners and Regional employees to seriously contend with potentially 
pretextual defenses, better aligning with how courts analyze Title VII 
discrimination cases. This Article argues that the test for discrimination 
under the NLRA can be improved without waiting for Congress to act,
and that such reforms would complement other schol-
ars’ recommendations to improve internal NLRB procedure. We pro-
pose a new causation test that better addresses how adjudicators weigh 
the evidence that Congress and jurists have deemed relevant for evalu-
ating discrimination claims. Our intent is not to propose a radical de-
parture from settled law. Rather, we argue that the original Wright Line 
decision itself contained hints of our test, but that adjudicators and 
practitioners alike have whittled Wright Line to an oversimplified shell at 
best and an ambiguous, complex inquiry at worst.

A. Proposed Test for Discrimination 

We propose the following test for cases involving discrimination 
under Section 8(a)(1),178(a)(3),18or 8(a)(4)19 of the NLRA: An initial show-
ing of discrimination is established by (i) evidence of retaliation taken, 
or disparate treatment condoned, against an employee for activities 
that implicate the concerns within Section 7, and (ii) a showing of either 
(a) general knowledge that the employee was inclined toward Section 7 
activity or (b) evidence that the employer exhibited generalized animus 
against Section 7 activity. Those showings fully satisfy the statutory re-
quirements to make out an unfair labor practice under Section 8(a)(3) of 
the NLRA: (i) discrimination, and (ii) tendency to increase or decrease 
union support.

To determine the propriety of reinstatement, backpay, and other 
make-whole remedies, the burden would then shift to the employer to 
show that it engaged in the personnel action for legitimate reasons and 

17. 29 U.S.C § 158(a)(1) (unfair labor practice to interfere with, restrain or coerce employees in 
the exercise of rights protected by the NLRA).

18. 29 U.S.C § 158(a)(3) (unfair labor practice to, by discrimination, encourage or discourage 
employees from engaging in union activity).

19. 29 U.S.C § 158(a)(4). This section, which will not be addressed further but is still germane 
to the discussion, makes it an unfair labor practice “to discharge or otherwise discriminate against 
an employee because he has filed charges or given testimony under this Act.”
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“for cause” within the meaning of Section 10(c)20 of the NLRA. Such a 
showing could be made through one or more of the following: the exist-
ence of a lawful policy applied toward the employee, a track record of 
enforcement of that policy toward similarly situated individuals or a 
showing that no such violations have occurred, documentation suggest-
ing that the decision to implement the personnel action pre-dated the 
Section 7 activity, or a showing that the Section 7 activity was unpro-
tected and no reasonable employee could have believed it to be protect-
ed.

Finally, the General Counsel can rebut the employer’s showing to 
establish that make-whole remedies are warranted. The General Coun-
sel’s second burden is to establish that the employer’s defense was pre-
textual because it was based on untrue facts or reasons that were not 
honestly believed. In assessing pretext, at least the following factors 
would be considered: shifting defenses, particularized animus toward 
the Section 7 activity, disparate treatment, white sheep/black sheep or 
collateral damage considerations, and evidence that the employer tar-
geted or monitored the employee with the deliberate intent to find an 
excuse to engage in the personnel action. 

Each burden should be analyzed on its own merits, and the relative 
strength of one burden should not be used as grounds to lighten the 
production regarding another burden. Thus, even a weak initial show-
ing would not lighten the employer’s burden to show that the adverse 
action was legitimate and “for cause,” nor should a strong initial show-
ing lighten the General Counsel’s second burden to establish pretext.
This would preserve the burden-shifting framework’s integrity and pre-
vent the test from becoming a haphazard balancing test à la Wright 
Line.21

This Article begins with a history of Wright Line’s origins in Part 2, 
followed by a critique of each element of that case’s test from a theoretic 
and doctrinal perspective in Part 3 and 4. We then discuss problems 
with Wright Line from a practitioner’s perspective in Part 5, after which 
we describe relevant jurisprudence from other relevant statutes in Part
6. In Part 7, we detail the rationale behind each element within our pro-
posed test, and in Part 8 we contrast our test with Wright Line by using 

20. 29 U.S.C. § 160(c).
21. Wright Line, 251 N.L.R.B. 1083 (1980), enforced, 662 F.2d 899 (1st Cir. 1981), cert. denied 455 

U.S. 989 (1982). The Board also applies the Wright Line test when evaluating whether a union vio-
lates Section 8(b)(2) of the Act, which makes it unlawful “to cause or attempt to cause an employer 
to discriminate against an employee in violation of subsection (a)(3) [of subsection (a)(3) of this sec-
tion] . . . .” 29 U.S.C § 158(b)(2). How our test should be applied to 8(b)(2) cases is beyond the scope 
of this Article.
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one hypothetical case and one actual case. In Part 9, we address poten-
tial objections to our test before closing.

II. HOW WRIGHT LINECAME TO BE

Before we begin to discuss the flaws in current law, it will help to 
get a sense of how the Board got to where it currently is. It may surprise 
the reader to learn that the Board employed no consistent causation test 
for the first forty-six years following the NLRA’s enactment.22 Perhaps it 
is impossible from our modern-day viewpoint to imagine a world in 
which the Board dispensed something closer to the rough justice meted 
out by arbitrators.23

Whatever the reason for this relative lack of rigid doctrinal formula-
tion, the Wright Line Board surveyed its cases and found that the test for 
causation had been variously described as requiring discipline motivat-
ed, “in part,” by the protected activities of the employee,24 discipline 
where union animus was “the motivating or moving cause”25; “the moti-
vating factor,”26 “the substantial, contributing factor,”27 “motivated [the 
discharge] principally”28; was “a substantial cause”29; was “a substantial 
or motivating ground”30; or motivated the discipline “in substantial 
part.”31 It also reviewed circuit court decisions, finding cases that had 
required the General Counsel to affirmatively prove that the discipline 
would not have been issued but for the employee’s union activity.32 Yet 
other cases—some from the same circuit courts—required only a show-

22. Wright Line, 251 N.L.R.B. at 1083.
23. It was, of course, originally conceived that the Board would act with something less than 

the procedural formality of a federal district court. See H.R. REP. NO. 74—1147, reprinted in 2
LEGISLATIVE HISTORY OF THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS ACT OF 1935 3046, 3074 (1949) (procedure 
provided is analogous to other administrative tribunals; formal rules of evidence not controlling in 
NLRB proceedings).

24. Youngstown Osteopathic Hosp. Ass’n, 224 N.L.R.B. 574, 575 (1976).
25. Bankers Warehouse Co., 146 N.L.R.B. 1197, 1200 (1964).
26. Tursair Fueling, Inc., 151 N.L.R.B. 270, 271 n.2 (1965).
27. Erie Sand Steamship Co., 189 N.L.R.B. 63, 63 n.1 (1971).
28. P.P.G. Indus., Inc., 229 N.L.R.B. 713 (1977).
29. Broyhill Co., 210 N.L.R.B. 288, 296 (1974).
30. KBM Electronics, Inc., t/a Carsounds, 218 N.L.R.B. 1352, 1358 (1975).
31. Central Casket Co., 225 N.L.R.B. 362 (1976).
32. E.g., W. Exterminator Co. v. NLRB, 565 F.2d 1114, 1118 (9th Cir 1977); Coletti’s Furniture, 

Inc. v. NLRB, 505 F.2d 1293, 1293–94 (1st Cir. 1977); Midwest Reg’l Joint Bd,. Amalgamated Clothing 
Workers of Am., AFL-CIO v. NLRB, 564 F.2d 434, 440 (D.C. Cir. 1977); Firestone Tire & Rubber Co. 
v. NLRB, 50 F. 2d 1335, 1337 (4th Cir. 1976).
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ing that union animus was “in part” responsible for the discipline.33

Other formulations included “a reasonable basis for inferring that the 
permissible ground alone would not have” motivated discipline,34 “that 
anti-union sentiment played a part,”35 that “the force of anti-union pur-
pose was ‘reasonably equal’ to the lawful motive prompting conduct,”36

and that discipline was not “predicated solely on” lawful motives.37

In our view, this chaos flowed primarily from courts adopting a 
crabbed view of what constitutes an unfair labor practice, adrift from 
the actual text of the NLRA. Section 8(a)(3), once you omit the various 
provisos contained therein, reads that it shall be an unfair labor practice 
for an employer “by discrimination in regard to hire or tenure of em-
ployment or any term or condition of employment to encourage or dis-
courage membership in any labor organization[.]”38 Discrimination, in 
short, does not need to cause a change in “hire or tenure of employment 
or any term or condition of employment.” It only needs to be “in regard 
to” such a change.39 Under the text of the NLRA, the General Counsel’s
burden in a discrimination case is to prove that the employer engaged 
in discrimination “in regard to” some change in the employee’s job sta-
tus or conditions. It is upon this reading that we, in Part 7 of this Arti-
cle, base our argument for a new approach to causation under the 
NLRA.

Returning for the moment to the history leading up to Wright Line,
the courts and Board seemed to muddle through until a line of First Cir-
cuit cases urged the Board to apply a “dominant motive” formulation of 
causation.40 These cases, primarily written by Judge Bailey Aldridge, 
threatened to deny enforcement to Board decisions if the Board did not 

33. See Penasquitos Village, Inc. v. NLRB, 565 F.2d 1074, 1082–83 (9th Cir. 1977); Allen v. 
NLRB, 561 F.2d 976, 982 (D.C. Cir. 1977). Ironically, less than 40 pages in volume 565 of Westlaw’s
Federal Reporter separate Penasquitos Village from Western Exterminator, a case in which the Ninth 
Circuit used a different test while describing that alternate test as “clear.”

34. Waterbury Comm’y Antenna, Inc. v. NLRB, 587 F.2d 90, 98 (2d Cir. 1978).
35. Edgewood Nursing Ctr., Inc. v. NLRB, 581 F.2d 363, 368 (3d Cir. 1978).
36. NLRB v. Aero Corp., 581 F.2d 511, 514–15 (5th Cir. 1978).
37. See Singer Co. v. NLRB, 429 F.2d 172, 179 (8th Cir. 1970).
38. 29 U.S.C § 158(a)(3) (emphasis added).
39. Id. Compare this language to Section 8(b)(2) of the NLRA, which sets out the analogous 

rule for labor organizations, and makes it an unfair labor practice for an organization to “cause or 
attempt to cause an employer to discriminate against an employee in violation of subsection (a)(3).”
29 U.S.C. § 158(b)(2) (2012). In neither case is success in the unlawful venture a prerequisite for un-
fair labor practice liability.

40. See, e.g., NLRB v. Fibers Int’l Corp., 439 F.2d 1311, 1311–12 (1st Cir. 1971) (“There is one area, 
however, where we have never seen eye to eye: the test for determining whether a discharge for 
established misconduct was in fact an unfair labor practice.”); NLRB v. Gotham Indus., 406 F.2d 
1306, 1309 (1st Cir. 1969) (“the ultimate burden was upon the Board to show that the promise was 
primarily motivated by an antiunion purpose”).
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apply the dominant motive formulation.41 Other circuit courts then be-
gan picking up the formula in the late 1970s, to the point where the con-
fusion began to create real doubt as to the Board’s ability to effectively 
enforce the NLRA.42 The Board’s hand was forced, but its response, 
though well-intentioned, did not go far enough.

With due respect to the eminent Judge Aldridge, the “dominant mo-
tive” test just does not make sense, even if one assumes that causation 
of discipline (and not merely union animus “with regard to” discipline) 
is required to make out an unfair labor practice. At various points the 
First Circuit described that test as setting forth a rule of “but-for”
causation.43 But “dominant motive” does not do that; it requires a kind 
of super-but-for causation in which the illegal motive must be not mere-
ly sufficient to cause discipline, but superior to all other causes of the 
discipline. This is simply not what but-for causation means. 

Consider a hypothetical example of age discrimination. The em-
ployer is a modeling agency that places a strong emphasis on youthful 
good looks. The agency is willing to hire over-40 models in some cir-
cumstances but holds the bigoted belief that they are generally unat-
tractive and a drag upon its business. The employer rates all applicants 
upon a standardized appearance scale of 0-100, and deducts 10 points 
from the score of all over-40 applicants because it believes the use of 
their likeness could result in poor sales. The agency only hires appli-
cants who score above 50. John, a 41-year-old, applies and is scored at a
55 and offered a job before the employer learns his age. Upon learning 
John’s age, the employer rescinds the offer. The “dominant motive” here 
is that John was a fringe candidate as to the employer’s appearance 
standards in the first place; he lost 45 points of a possible 100 due to ap-
pearance rating, and only 10 points for his age. Yet the facts of the hypo-
thetical make clear that his over-40 status was the proverbial final straw 
that broke the camel’s back.

Wright Line correctly rejected the erroneous “dominant motive”
formulation but because the Board felt constrained to adopt a test that 
required but-for causation, it also abandoned the many cases holding 
that a discharge “in part” based on union activity was unlawful.44 In-
stead, it repurposed an inapposite test from an entirely different area of 
employment law, namely discharges in violation of an employee’s con-

41. Fibers Int’l Corp., 439 F.2d at 1311; Gotham Indus., 406 F.2d at 1306.
42. See, e.g., Edgewood Nursing Ctr., Inc. v. NLRB, 581 F.2d 363, 368 (3d Cir. 1978).
43. See, e.g., Coletti’s Furniture v. NLRB, 550 F.2d 1292, 1294 (1st Cir. 1977).
44. See e.g., Edgewood Nursing Ctr., Inc., v. NLRB, 581 F.2d 363, 368 (3d Cir. 1978).
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stitutional rights by public-sector employers.45 In Mount Healthy School 
District v. Doyle, the Supreme Court confronted a situation where an 
employee’s teaching contract was not renewed due to the confluence of 
two actions, one constitutionally protected and one unprotected.46 Alt-
hough the employee showed that his protected activity was a factor in 
the adverse action, the Court insisted that the employer be given an op-
portunity to show that it would have made the same decision regardless 
of the protected activity.47 The Wright Line Board took this test and re-
purposed it into the now-familiar inquiry in labor cases, requiring a 
showing of three preliminary elements: (i) protected activity, (ii) the 
employer’s knowledge of the protected activity, (iii) and a showing or 
inference that the protected activity played a role in the adverse ac-
tion.48 Consistent with Mt. Healthy, the Board additionally allowed an 
employer to entirely escape liability by proving that it would have taken 
the same action regardless of the employee’s protected activity.49

The Board erred. Regardless of whether Mount Healthy was correctly 
decided in the first instance, it dealt with an implied anti-retaliation 
cause of action at significant remove from the plain text of the First 
Amendment.50 The imposition of rigid elements and causation re-
quirements could theoretically be justified by courts’ unwillingness to 
broadly restrict the scope of government action where the Constitution 
does not clearly compel such restriction.51 By contrast, the Board had a 
reasonably clear statute before it which already reflected Congress’s ea-
gerness to restrict the scope of private-sector employer action.52 That 

45. See generally Pickering v. Board of Ed. of Twp. High Sch. Dist. 205, Will. Cty., 391 U.S. 563, 
568 (1968), and cases cited therein (setting forth a general balancing test for determining whether a 
public employee’s speech is protected by the First Amendment).

46. 429 U.S. 274, 282 (1977). Specifically, Doyle’s contract was not renewed because he (1) 
made a protected complaint to a local radio station about the school’s teacher dress code, and (2) in 
the prim words of the Court, “made an obscene gesture to two girls in connection with their failure 
to obey commands made in his capacity as cafeteria supervisor.” The latter was, unsurprisingly, 
deemed not to be speech on a matter of public concern.

47. See id. at 286.
48. See Austal USA LLC, 356 N.L.R.B. 363, 363 (2010) (citing Wright Line, 251 N.L.R.B. 1083, 

1083 (1980)).
49. Wright Line, 251 N.L.R.B. at 1089 (citing Mt Healthy, 479 U.S. 274).
50. We do not, of course, cast doubt on the underlying proposition that government employ-

ees do not relinquish their First Amendment rights by agreeing to a contract of employment. E.g.,
Keyishian v. Board of Regents, 385 U. S. 589, 605–06 (1967). An implied anti-retaliation cause of 
action is essential to protect those rights.

51. See, e.g., Garcetti v. Ceballos, 547 U.S. 410, 422 (2006) (declining to apply the First 
Amendment to employees’ actions where those actions arguably fell within the scope of their em-
ployment).

52. H.R. REP. NO. 74-1147, reprinted in 2 LEG. HIST. OF THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS ACT OF 
1935 3046, 3054 (1949) (intent of bill to curb refusal by employers to accept procedure of collective 
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statute was given virtually no textual analysis in Wright Line.53 As the 
next two sections show, courts and the Board have grafted a problemat-
ically rigid and inflexible series of requirements onto NLRA discrimina-
tion law, hindering the Board’s ability to remedy unlawful employer 
conduct.

III. WRIGHT LINE’S INITIAL SHOWING: UNNECESSARY COMPLEXITY 
DISTRACTS FROM THE REAL INQUIRY

Wright Line’s problems begin, so to speak, at the beginning, with the 
requirements it imposes upon the party claiming discrimination to even 
create a rebuttable presumption of unlawful conduct.54 As typically ar-
ticulated, there are three elements to the prima facie case, more recently 
couched as the “initial showing” or “initial burden”:

1. The employee must have engaged in protected conduct (or be 
perceived to have done so);

2. The employer must have had knowledge that the employee 
engaged in protected conduct; and

3. The employer must have had animus against the protected 
conduct.55

Only if all three elements are shown does the burden shift to the
employer to show that the employee would have been discharged re-
gardless of their protected activity.56 Each of these elements, as the 
Board has recently applied them, has deep analytical flaws, which we 
explore below.

Before diving into those flaws, it is worth taking a moment to ques-
tion what the point of this exercise is to begin with. If the legal question 

bargaining); Id. at 3065 (object of “forbidding employers to interfere with the development of em-
ployee organization”?).

53. Wright Line, 251 N.L.R.B. at 288–89. Remarkably, no part of Wright Line even discusses the 
distinction between discrimination “in regard to” conditions of employment and discrimination 
that actually causes a change in conditions of employment.

54. These requirements were commonly referred to in Wright Line as the “prima facie case.” See
Wright Line, 251 N.L.R.B. at 1088–89. Since the Board’s decision in Manno Electric, the Board has 
called the “prima facie case” the “initial showing.” See 321 N.L.R.B. 278, 280 n.12 (1996). As explained 
in that case, the change in terminology stemmed from the D.C. Circuit’s suggestion that Office of 
Workers’ Compensation Programs v. Greenwich Collieries, 512 U.S. 267, 274–76 (1994) (GC’s burden is a 
burden of persuasion, not merely of production), changed the legal landscape. In that case, the 
court explained that “it will no longer be appropriate to term the General Counsel’s burden that of 
mounting a prima facie case; his burden is to persuade the Board that the employer acted out of 
antiunion animus.” Southwest Merchandising Corp. v. NLRB, 53 F.3d 1334, 1340 n.8 (D.C. Cir. 
1995)).

55. Tschiggfrie Props., Ltd., 368 N.L.R.B.  No. 120, slip op. at 6 (Nov. 22, 2019).
56. Id.
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to be answered is simply “is it more likely that employee D was disci-
plined for union activity than for the reason the employer gave?”, then 
why not just ask that question in every case, without any arbitrary ma-
trices and elements? Although we advocate a radical stripping-down of 
Wright Line’s elements, we do not propose to go quite this far. At their 
best, proof structures can incorporate fundamental evidentiary pre-
sumptions, or heuristics, about the way the world works.57 Imagine that
a fire department is deciding when to respond to 911 calls and when to 
dismiss them as pranks. The department might adopt a structured de-
cision-making tree with two elements: that if (1) there is a 911 call and (2) 
one can see smoke from the cupola of the fire station in the vicinity of 
the call location, then firefighters should be dispatched. Occasionally, 
the smoke will turn out to have been just a coincidence, but the vast ma-
jority of the time, the rule will lead to dispatch in circumstances where 
there is a real fire.

Where this becomes problematic is when heuristics turn into rigid 
requirements of boxes that must be checked in order to prove one’s case. 
At that point, proof becomes less about the overall picture and more 
about individual flyspecking of the evidence as to specific points of the 
initial showing. Difficult-to-meet mandatory proof structures such as
Wright Line become an exercise in missing the forest for the trees. It is 
for this reason that we advocate a radical reimagining of Wright Line—
not as a series of atomized elements, but as an analysis designed to re-
flect the way that the real world operates.

A. “Protected Activity”: Traps for the Unwary

Wright Line’s difficulties begin with the very first element of the ini-
tial showing—the requirement that an employee engage in activity pro-
tected by the NLRA. This Article would be twice its length if we were to 
engage in a full exegesis of what types of activity enjoy substantive pro-
tection under the NLRA, and the ways that such protections have been 

57. Board cases are, for the most part, governed by the Federal Rules of Evidence. See 29 
U.S.C. § 160(b). Those rules permit the imposition of evidentiary presumptions based upon “con-
siderations of fairness, policy, and probability,” though under the version of that rule ultimately 
enacted by Congress, such presumptions do not shift the ultimate burden of proof in the case. FED.
R. EVID. 301, advisory committee’s notes (1975). For a discussion of the theory of presumptions, see 
generally Ronald A. Schmidt, The Plaintiff ‘s Burden In Title VII Disparate Treatment Cases: Discrimina-
tion Vel Non—St. Mary’s Honor Center v. Hicks, 113 S. CT. 2742 (1993), 73 NEB. L. REV. 953, 965–76 
(1994).
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narrowed by the Board and courts.58 To avoid such an extended digres-
sion, we will simply take the landscape of protected activities as a black 
box.

Even doing so, there are significant problems with Wright Line. For 
one thing, as the Board itself has identified, employees can be victim-
ized in ways that violate labor policy even when they have not engaged 
in any protected activity. Sometimes the employer wrongly perceives 
them to have done so, such as when an employer fires an employee it 
thinks supports a union even though they do not or have not yet formed 
an opinion.59 Sometimes the employer wants to cut protected activity 
off at the source with a “preemptive strike” aimed at preventing that ac-
tivity from ever happening in the first place.60 When these types of be-
haviors are properly identified they are generally subject to liability, but 
Wright Line’s misleading language has the potential to deceive parties 
and investigators about this area of the law.

More problematically, it is routinely the case for employees to en-
gage in activity that employees could reasonably believe is protected, only 
to have it turn out not to be protected after-the-fact. Sometimes this is 
because activity is characterized as having an objective that isn’t em-
ployees’ place to complain about.61 Sometimes it is because employees 
use tactics that the Board or courts deem off-limits.62 Sometimes it is 
because employees are deemed to have exceeded the boundaries of ac-

58. Examples of such narrowing can be found in Meyers Indus., 281 N.L.R.B. 882, 887 (1986) 
(Meyers II), aff’d. sub nom. Prill v. NLRB, 835 F.2d 1481 (D.C. Cir. 1987) (restricting definition of con-
certed activity to activity “with the object of initiating or inducing . . . group action,” as opposed to 
merely activity to benefit a group), and Epic Sys. v. Lewis, 138 S. Ct. 1612, 1625 (2018) (deeming con-
certed activities engaged in through formal litigation processes of class or collective actions outside 
the statute’s definition because they are not things employees “just do” for themselves).

59. E.g., Metro-W. Ambulance Svc., 360 N.L.R.B. 1029, 1029 n.5 (2014), and cases cited there-
in.

60. Parexel Int’l, 356 N.L.R.B. 516, 518 (2011).
61. E.g., Memorandum from Barry J. Kearney, Assoc. Gen. Counsel, NLRB, to Robert W. 

Chester, Reg’l Dir., Region 18, NLRB, regarding Reliable Maint., Case 18-CA-18119 (October 31, 
2006), available at https://apps.nlrb.gov/link/document.aspx/09031d458000d21d [https://perma.cc
/4VSY-PBKV]; Holling Press, Inc., 343 N.L.R.B. 301 (2004) (employee’s solicitation of coworkers for 
support in complaint about sexual harassment was allegedly unprotected because those employees 
wouldn’t necessarily themselves fear such harassment), overruled in relevant part, Fresh and Easy 
Neighborhood Market, 361 N.L.R.B., No. 12 (2014).

62. Preferred Building Serv., Inc., 366 N.L.R.B. No. 159, slip op. at 23 (Aug. 28, 2018) (employ-
ee protest against sexual harassment deemed unprotected because it could theoretically have been 
interpreted as asking employer’s contractor to cease doing business with employer); Coca-Cola 
Puerto Rico Bottlers, 368 N.L.R.B. No. 84, slip op. at 3 (Sept. 30, 2019) (strikers lost protection of 
the Act when they failed to cease strike upon employer’s distribution of a letter from the Union de-
nouncing the strike); Ampersand Publ’g v. N.L.R.B. 702 F.3d 51, 56 (D.C. Cir. 2011) (employees lost 
protection of the Act by making demands that, even in part, would have implicated the content of 
the newspaper).



FALL 2022] Wrong Line 15

ceptable conduct during the course of their protest.63 And sometimes it 
is simply that employees guess wrong about the law and employers are 
allowed to punish them for doing so.64

This approach is fundamentally ill-conceived. Employees do not 
carry law books with them to work,65 and the interests of labor law are 
best served when any conduct that even arguably implicates the inter-
ests that the law protects is shielded from employer reprisals. Employ-
ers have enough power in the workplace without possessing the addi-
tional power to exact revenge against employees who, acting in good 
faith, commit trivial tactical or legal errors. Nowhere in the NLRA is the 
expanse of concerted activity for mutual aid and protection delimited. 
Section 1 of the NLRA declares the policy of the United States to be pro-
tecting “the exercise by workers of full freedom of association, self-
organization, and designation of representatives of their own choosing, 
for the purpose of negotiating the terms and conditions of their em-
ployment or other mutual aid or protection.”66 The usage of the word “or”
here implies that matters other than mere terms and conditions of em-
ployment are meant to be encompassed. This expansive view of Section 
7 was also underscored in Eastex, Inc. v. NLRB, where employees acting 
“through channels outside the immediate employee-employer relation-
ship” was found to constitute protected activity within Section 7’s “mu-
tual aid and protection” clause.67

For these reasons, Wright Line’s first prong must be fundamentally 
rethought. We recommend that the Board reformulate the prong to on-
ly require employees to have engaged in activity that touches or con-
cerns the policies underlying the Act’s substantive protection of union 
and other concerted activities (for short, “Section 7 activity”). So long as 
the employee has not acted in bad faith (such as by intentionally lying, 
resorting to physical violence or true threats of such, or making com-
plaints that the employee knows are utterly baseless), their Section 7 ac-
tivity should be shielded if it arguably relates to the objectives of the 
NLRA. The workplace should be a place for the free exchange of ideas, 

63. General Motors LLC, .L.R.B.369 N No. 127, slip op. at 8–9 (July 21, 2020).
64. See, e.g., Det. Typo. U. No. 18 v. NLRB, 216 F.3d 109, 122 (D.C. Cir. 2000) (strikers could be 

replaced where employer did not commit unfair labor practices alleged as motivation for strike); 
Minn. Licensed Practical Nurses Ass’n v. NLRB, 406 F.3d 1020, 1027 (8th Cir. 2004) (employees lost 
status as such and could be freely terminated where they struck after time specified for beginning 
of strike at healthcare facility).

65. Ingram Book Co., 315 N.L.R.B. 515, 518 n.2 (1994) (“Rank-and-file employees do not gener-
ally carry lawbooks to work or apply legal analysis to company rules as do lawyers, and cannot be 
expected to have the expertise to examine company rules from a legal standpoint.”).

66. 29 U.S.C. § 151 (emphasis added).
67. 437 U.S. 556, 565 (1978).
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not one where employees cower in fear of reprisal if they do not phrase 
their words in the exact right way for the benefit of after-the-fact ob-
servers. Our position in this regard is consistent with the General Coun-
sel’s expansive interpretations of the “mutual aid and protection” and 
“inherently concerted” doctrines.68

B. “Knowledge”: An Element with No Purpose

As problematic as Wright Line’s first element is, it pales in compari-
son with the second, which requires the charging party to show that the 
employer had knowledge of the employee’s protected activity. This 
seemingly innocuous requirement sets another series of needless obsta-
cles in the way of meritorious cases, and for unpersuasive reasons. Con-
sider an employer that actually does not know or suspect that an em-
ployee had engaged in protected activity. How would that employer 
behave? Exactly as it would have even in the absence of the protected 
conduct. If that phrasing sounds familiar, it should—it is a mere re-
statement of the Wright Line affirmative defense!69 When one has no in-
formation about something, then by definition that something cannot 
change one’s behavior.

So what, precisely, is the element of “knowledge” adding to Wright 
Line’s test? From a strictly logical point of view, almost nothing. Yes, 
making knowledge an element of the initial showing theoretically could 
change the outcome of a case where the decisionmaker thinks it is ex-
actly as likely that the employer knew about the employee’s protected 
activity as that it did not know. But that will hardly ever be the case to 
begin with, and it is made even less likely when one realizes that 
knowledge is often inferred through the same kinds of circumstantial 
evidence that rebut the employer’s Wright Line defense.70 “Knowledge”
as an element does no independent work here.

68 Counsel Memorandum 21-04, Effectuation of the National Labor Relations . See General
Act Through Vigorous Enforcement of the Mutual Aid or Protection and Inherently Concerted Doc-
trines (Mar. 31, 2021), https://apps.nlrb.gov/link/document.aspx/09031d45833ea1f3 [https://perma.
cc/ZE2X-PBM4]. Indeed, the Board has reaffirmed that Section 7 “protect[s] employees when they 
pursue legal claims concertedly,” and noted that Epic Systems v. Lewis, 138 S. Ct. 1612, 1625 (2017) 
did not address whether an employer violates the Act when it disciplines or discharges employees 
for filing a class or collective legal action against their employer. See Cordúa Restaurants, Inc., 368 
N.L.R.B. No. 43, slip op. at 5 (Aug. 14, 2019) (“nothing in the Court’s decision in Epic Systems calls 
into question this longstanding precedent”) [https://perma.cc/ZE2X-PBM4].

69 N.L.R.B. , enforced, 662 F.2d 899 (1st Cir. 1981), cert. . See Wright Line, 251 1083, 1089 (1980)
denied 455 U.S. 989 (1982).

70 N.L.R.B. “. Coastal Sunbelt Produce, 362 997, 998 (2015) ( Knowledge of union activity may 
be inferred from such circumstantial evidence as the timing of the alleged discriminatory actions; 
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What the knowledge prong unmistakably does do is provide a 
roadmap for unsympathetic adjudicators to pick apart strong cases on 
hyper-technical grounds. Take Gestamp South Carolina v. NLRB, for ex-
ample.71 Two employees were fired in the context of a heated union 
drive, and one of the employees had been specifically threatened with 
discharge by a supervisor if the company found out about his protected 
activities.72 The other employee was fired for a trivial one-time error in 
entering his timecard.73 The Administrative Law Judge who heard the 
case unsurprisingly found that these discharges—one following 
through on a prior threat, the other a transparently obvious pretext—
were motivated by the employees’ union activity, and the Board af-
firmed the decision.74 Yet the court seized on the Administrative Law 
Judge’s inability—due to vagueness in the employer’s own testimony—
to identify exactly who had made the decision to fire the employees.75

The court then used that gap in the record to reverse the Board on the 
sole ground that the Administrative Law Judge had not drawn a specific 
enough inference that the decisionmaker—whoever it was—knew of 
the employees’ union activity.76 All of the circumstantial evidence that 
these terminations were illegally motivated was simply ignored, be-
cause the Administrative Law Judge had failed, in the court’s view, to 
properly check the “knowledge” box.77

Nor is this the sole example; one can cite any number of cases where 
inability to prove knowledge was cited as the dispositive factor while 
similarly overwhelming circumstantial evidence that a termination was 
unlawful was ignored or discounted.78 When a required element of a le-

’ ’ ’the Respondent s general knowledge of its employees union activities; the Respondent s animus 
”against the Union; and the pretextual reasons given for the adverse personnel actions. ) (internal 

quotation omitted).
71. 769 F.3d 254, 258 (4th Cir. 2014).
72. Id. at 264.
73. Id. at 260.
74 N.L.R.B. . See Gestamp S. Car., 357 1563, 1572 (2011). The above is just a brief summary; the 

full decision should be read to get a sense of just how overwhelming the evidence of discriminatory 
motive was, including the suspicious timing of the discharges and the slipshod-to-nonexistent 

’investigations the employer conducted as to the employees notional misconduct.
75. 769 F.3d at 261–63.
76. Id.
77. Id.
78 ’. Even a cursory examination of the Board s classification index on this subject reveals a 

plethora of hotly contested cases in which, over vehement dissents, conservative majorities of the 
Board refused to find employer knowledge in exceptionally suspicious circumstances. See, e.g., Re-

N.L.R.B. liable Disposal, Inc., 348 1205, 1208–09 (2006) (Liebman, Member, dissenting) (employer 
illegally fired a union supporter one day, then laid off two more the next day, yet Board found it 

N.L.R.B. lacked knowledge of their union activities); Caribe Ford, 348 1108, 1111 (2006) (Liebman, 
Member, dissenting) (employer initiated review of employees just days after one employee advo-
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gal test allows the adjudicator to reach preposterous factual conclusions 
based upon trivial inadequacies of the prosecution’s initial showing, 
that element fails to achieve its purpose.

C. “Animus”: A Misnomer with Harmful Consequences

Wright Line’s third element is commonly shorthanded as “animus,”
but this is in fact a misnomer.79 What this element actually requires is 
some evidence that the action the employer took against the employee 
was motivated by the employee’s protected activity.80 In Wright Line it-
self, the Board emphasized that it need not have been the “dominant”
motive.81 Moreover, unlawful motive can be shown in a variety of ways; 
evidence of animus against protected activity is only one of a plethora of 
proof tools. Others include the commission of contemporaneous unfair 
labor practices,82 suspicious timing of adverse action in relation to pro-
tected activity,83 inexplicably disparate treatment of similar behavior,84

evidence that the employer rushed to judgment and did not seriously 
investigate whether the employee actually committed any wrongdo-
ing,85 failure to follow an employer’s own internal disciplinary guide-
lines or procedures,86 and most importantly of all, pretext—the showing 
that the employer’s asserted reasons for disciplining an employee were 
false or not honestly believed.87

cated for a union, then fired the employee while retaining worse-performing employees); accord 
N.L.R.B. Sacramento Recycling & Transfer Station, 345 564, 566 (2005) (employer found to lack 

knowledge despite firing five union adherents days after a meeting where they solicited union au-
’thorization cards, and despite the fact that employer s upper management had been told that em-

“ ”ployees needed a union just a few months earlier).
79 “ ”. The Wright Line Board charted the history of the usage of the word animus when as-

N.L.R.B. sessing 8(a)(3) discrimination but ultimately chose not to include that word in the test. 251 
1083, 1084–86, 1089 (1980).

80. Id. at 1089.
81. Id. at 1087–88.
82. See, e.g., N.L.R.B. RHCG Safety Corp., 365 No. 88, slip op. at 3 (June 7, 2017) (unlawful 

interrogation of employee was evidence of animus).
83. See, e.g., Matson Terminals, Inc., v. NLRB, 114 F.3d 300, 303 (D.C. Cir. 1997) (proximity 

’between union activity and employer s action was circumstantial evidence of unlawful motivation).
84 See, e.g., BS&B Safety Sys., LLC, 370 N.L.R.B. No. 90, slip op. at 1–2 (Feb. 19, 2021). This .

case is a good recent illustration of the mishmash of considerations that all factor into the nebulous 
concept of animus.

85. See, e.g., N.L.R.B. Wendt Corp., 369 No. 135, slip op. at 2 (Jul. 29, 2020) (employer failed to 
’interview employees who witnessed the alleged harassment that it claimed as cause for employee s

discharge).
86. See, e.g., N.L.R.B. ’Septix Waste, Inc., 346 494, 496 n.15 (2006) (employer s inexplicable 

departure from policy).
87. Shattuck Denn Mining Co. v. NLRB, 362 F.2d 466 (9th Cir. 1966).
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What this seeming grab-bag of tools have in common is that all of 
them are heuristics that suggest that the employer is not acting as it 
normally would when dealing with a potential disciplinary problem, but 
rather is targeting an employee for their protected activity. When 
properly applied, the third Wright Line element is an ecumenical inquiry 
into the totality of circumstances surrounding an employee’s discipline, 
which takes into account not just the direct admissions of the employ-
er’s personnel (though those are often supremely useful), but the natural 
and probable inferences that one can draw from the facts of the case.88

When wrongly applied, however, Wright Line and its progeny can 
sometimes turn into a snipe hunt for “animus,” an ill-defined concept 
that allows the factfinder to close their eyes to virtually any evidence 
short of a direct admission that an employee was fired for protected ac-
tivity. Cases have been dismissed on the grounds that: the employer lied 
about its real reasons, but the employee can’t prove exactly what the 
employer was trying to cover up;89 the employer hated union support-
ers, but there’s no direct evidence that it hated this union supporter;90

or that well-honed chestnut—the comparator employees were too dif-
ferent to warrant an inference of discrimination (where the degree of 
difference is essentially in the eye of the beholder).91 In a handful of in-
stances before 2003, the Board even applied a fourth “nexus” require-
ment to the initial showing.92 Though the Tschiggfrie Board did not for-
mally add the nexus requirement, it nonetheless emphasized that 
Wright Line is inherently a test of causation.93 Instead of adding a nexus 

88. Unfamiliar readers might be surprised to learn that employer admissions are such a 
Wright Line — isprominent part of cases, but they are it surprisingly common for lawbreaking com-

’ is panies to come up with one explanation for an employee s discharge and then, when it drawn 
“into question, attempt to trump up a new explanation after the fact (often referred to as shifting 

” N.L.R.B. defenses ). See, e.g., Aliante Gaming, 364 No. 80, slip op. at 1006 (Aug. 23, 2016) (shifting 
explanations for discharge was evidence of discrimination).

89 N.L.R.B. . Electrolux Home Prod., 368 No. 34 (2019).
90 Tschiggfrie Props., Ltd., 368 N.L.R.B. No. 120, slip op (Nov. 22, 2019) . See at 8 n.25, 9 n.26 

( Libertyville Toyota, 360 N.L.R.B. 1298 (2014), sub nom. AutoNation, Inc. v. overruling enforced
NLRB, 801 F.3d 767 (7th Cir. 2015)); Mesker Door, Inc., 357 N.L.R.B. 591 (2011)) (suggesting that “an 
isolated, one-on-one threat or interrogation directed at someone other than the alleged discrimi-
natee and involving someone else’s protected activity may not be sufficient” to show an employer’s
discriminatory motive); Volvo Group North America, LLC, 370 N.L.R.B. No. 52 (2020) see also
(where the Board rejected a slew of inferential considerations that would ordinarily meet the initial 
burden because those considerations insufficiently established that the employer had targeted an-
imus against the discriminatee).

91. See, e.g., Wynn Las Vegas, 369 N.L.R.B. No. 91, slip op. at 20 (May 29, 2020).
92. See, e.g., American Gardens Mgmt. Co., 338 N.L.R.B. 644, 645 (2002); Tracker Marine, 337 

N.L.R.B. 644, 646 (2002); Addicts Rehab. Ctr. Fund, 330 N.L.R.B. 733, 742 (2000).
93. Tschiggfrie, 368 N.L.R.B. No. 120, slip op at 8, 11–13. There, the Board chronicles the long 

debate as to whether Wright Line implies a fourth nexus requirement.
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requirement, the Tschiggfrie Board essentially transformed the animus 
requirement into a nexus requirement.94 This is quite a departure from 
the Supreme Court finding discharges for union activity to be violations 
of Section 8(a)(1), and finding it unnecessary to even reach the 8(a)(3) 
question because the “Defeat of [Section 7] rights by employer action 
does not necessarily depend on the existence of an anti-union bias.”95

At the risk of overgeneralizing these cases, the underlying problem 
with their reasoning is a persistent failure to grapple with industrial re-
ality. Indeed, the same failure pervades Wright Line’s test, which essen-
tially presumes that an employer’s actions are lawfully motivated unless 
there is particularized evidence to the contrary.96 But it blinks reality in 
a landscape dominated by aggressive anti-union campaigning.97 In that
world, most union organizing drives are met with employer opposition, 
often involving unlawful tactics.98 And most employers resist good-faith 
bargaining when unions do manage to achieve certification.99 This 
should be unsurprising; the economic incentives to avoid unionization 
and maintain unilateral control over working conditions, and the fee-
ble-to-nonexistent costs associated with committing unfair labor prac-
tices,100 mean that it would be virtually a breach of fiduciary duty for an 
employer to follow the law in a circumstance where flouting it promises 
greater profits. Yet Wright Line and its progeny take no account of these 
background circumstances, evaluating every discharge as if the eco-
nomic incentives involved were identical. Faced with a recurring pat-
tern of pervasive illegality, the Board and courts ignore industrial reali-
ties.

94. Id. at 8–9.
95. NLRB v. Burnup & Sims, Inc., 379 U.S. 21, 23 (1964).
96. See, e.g., Merchants Truck Line, Inc. v. NLRB, 577 F.2d 1011, 1014 (5th Cir. 1978) (“Discharge 

is a traditional management prerogative; lack of justification is not to be lightly inferred.”)
97. As of 2006, over 75% of employers hired union-avoidance consultants when confronted by 

an organizing campaign. John Logan, , 44 BRIT. J.The Union Avoidance Industry in the United States
INDUS. RELS., 44, 651–75 (2006).

98. See KATE BRONFENBRENNER, LAB. SECRETARIAT OF THE N. AM. COMM’N FOR LAB. COOP.,
FINAL REPORT: THE EFFECTS OF PLANT CLOSING OR THREAT OF PLANT CLOSING ON THE RIGHT OF 
WORKERS TO ORGANIZE, tbl.11 (1996), available at www.ilr.cornell.edu/library/e_archive/gov_reports
[https://perma.cc/3Q5S-4LLM].

99. John-Paul Ferguson, The Eyes of the Needles: A Sequential Model of Union Organizing Drives, 
1999-2004, 62 INDUS. AND LAB. RELS. REV. 1, 5 (2008) (finding that 44% of certified unions could not 
reach a first contract with the employer within two years of certification).

100. A recent study concluded that firing union organizers would be economically justified 
under current law if it produces as little as a 0.5 to 2 percent chance of defeating an organizing 
campaign. Anna Stansbury, Do employers have an economic incentive to comply with the FLSA and the 
NLRA? 1 (Peterson Institute for International Economics, Working Paper 21-9, 2001), 
www.piie.com/publications/working-papers/do-us-firms-have-incentive-comply-flsa-and-nlra
[https://perma.cc/7MPE-PA2S].
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Admittedly, a part of this is Congress’s fault. Section 8(c) of the 
NLRA prohibits the Board from using an employer’s statements as evi-
dence that it has committed an unfair labor practice unless those state-
ments amount to threats of reprisal or promises of benefits.101 The fact 
that an employer has publicly attacked its employees for exercising their 
legal rights or declared its implacable opposition to the exercise of such 
rights is obviously highly probative evidence in any case where the em-
ployer is alleged to have violated those rights by discharging an employ-
ee. But repealing Section 8(c) is a matter for legislation, not litigation.102

Still, even if Section 8(c) limits the degree to which the Board can make 
use of a particular employer’s virulent hostility to employees’ legal 
rights, it says nothing about the Board’s ability to take notice of general 
behavior by employers faced with certain types of hot-button factual 
situations such as an organizing drive.

We accordingly urge a dramatic relaxation of the initial showing 
burden with regard to the element of “animus” or motivating factor. To 
obtain a trial on the real question at hand—whether or not this dis-
charge, more likely than not, was the result of union activity—the only 
proof that should be required is either (1) evidence that the employer 
was aware of the employee’s proclivity toward union organizing (or any 
other concerted activity that, if successful, would naturally tend to 
weaken the employer’s control of the workforce or its bottom-line prof-
its) or (2) a minimal showing of circumstantial evidence of the employ-
er’s hostility to protected activity writ large. Once that minimal hurdle 
is satisfied, the case should go to trial.103 The presumptions and frame-
works that such a trial should employ are discussed in more detail in 
Part 7 of this Article below.

101. 29 U.S.C. § 158(c) (2012). Section 8(c) provides “The expressing of any views, argument, or 
opinion, or the dissemination thereof, whether in written, printed, graphic, or visual form, shall 
not constitute or be evidence of an unfair labor practice under any of the provisions of this Act 
[subchapter], if such expression contains no threat of reprisal or force or promise of benefit.” The 
more pro-employer the adjudicator, the more likely it takes very literally the “shall not constitute or 
be evidence of an unfair labor practice” portion of the language. Thus, sometimes vitriolic anti-
union rhetoric is deemed protected by Section 8(c) and therefore insufficient to constitute animus.

102. But see General Counsel Memorandum 22-04, The Right to Refrain from Captive Audience 
and other Mandatory Meetings (Apr. 7, 2022), https://apps.nlrb.gov/link/document.aspx
/09031d458372316b [https://perma.cc/CFM6-RYQF] (under certain circumstances, a mandatory 
captive audience meeting in which an employer expresses anti-union views may be considered 
coercive and thus violative of Section 8(a)(1) of the Act).

103. See Member Gould’s concurrence in Frick Paper Co., 319 N.L.R.B. 9, 12 (1995), where he 
suggests ending the unfair-labor-practice inquiry at the initial showing and leaving the Wright 
Line burden to determine remedy.
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IV. WRIGHT LINE’S AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE: LETTING EMPLOYERS OFF THE 
HOOK EVEN WHEN THEY TAKE ACTIONS WITH IMPROPER MOTIVES

Even assuming that an employee’s charge of discrimination sur-
vives the gauntlet of obstacles that have been set up for it at the initial-
burden stage, the employer is still—under the Mt. Healthy balancing test 
repurposed in Wright Line—given an opportunity to escape scot-free by 
showing that it would have made the same decision despite the employ-
ee’s protected activity.104 This affirmative defense is at least an im-
provement on the Wright Line initial showing insofar as it reflects a to-
tality-of-circumstances analysis rather than a rigid list of required 
elements, but it nevertheless remains inadequate to cope with the land-
scape of discriminatory conduct in the modern workplace. 

For one thing, it is not consistent with the statute. As explained 
above, the NLRA does not require but-for causation, it requires only 
discrimination that would tend to increase or decrease employ-
ees’ willingness to engage in protected activity.105 Section 10(c) limits li-
ability for unfair labor practices only in circumstances where an em-
ployee has been discharged for cause, which requires the employer to not 
merely show that it would have fired an employee regardless of the em-
ployee’s union activity, but that such a firing would actually have been 
justified.106 For this reason, cases holding that an employer can escape 
liability based upon a mistaken belief that an employee committed mis-
conduct are wrongly decided, except where the employer’s action was 
completely free of unlawful motivation (or, to put it another way, cases 
where the affirmative defense is unnecessary because the General 
Counsel has never satisfied his or her initial burden).107 A mistake is not 
“cause.”

Furthermore, because the Wright Line affirmative defense rests on 
an essentially standardless counterfactual, it tends toward reasoning by 
inference; there will almost never be evidence that directly bears on the 
question of what an employer would have done in a hypothetical world. 
This causes the affirmative defense to needlessly rehash elements of the 
initial showing to the point where it is frequently difficult to tell the two 
analyses apart. Among the elements that have been found pertinent to 

104. Wright Line, 251 N.L.R.B. 1083, 1089 (1980), enforced, 662 F.2d 899 (1st Cir. 1981), cert. denied
455 U.S. 989 (1982).

105 29 U.S.C § 158(a)(3).. See
106. 29 U.S.C. § 160(c); see also NLRB v. Transp. Mgmt. Corp., 462 U.S. 393, 401 (1983) (analyz-

ing the legislative history of NLRA Section 10(c) to demonstrate that it provides no defense to liabil-
ity where the employer has acted based upon a mixture of permissible and impermissible motives).

107 , Yuker Const. Co., 335 N.L.R.B. 1072, 1072 (2001).. See, e.g.
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the question of whether an employer would have acted in the absence of 
union activity are the giving of a pretextual explanation,108 disparate 
treatment of an employee relative to others,109 the timing of the adverse 
action,110 and contemporaneous unfair labor practices.111 All of these 
should sound familiar because they are functionally the same elements 
used to establish “particularized” animus under Tschiggfrie and its pre-
decessors.

But the most egregious error of Wright Line’s affirmative defense is 
how it treats cases where the defense is established: it dismisses those 
cases outright. The Board breezily justified this outcome by claiming 
that “should the employer be able to demonstrate that the discipline or 
other action would have occurred absent protected activities, the em-
ployee cannot justly complain if the employer’s action is upheld.”112 This 
is untrue—regardless of technicalities of causation, we firmly believe 
that a reasonable person would feel aggrieved when an employer acted 
against them based in part on illegitimate considerations. This is also
irrelevant given that the purpose of the NLRA is not to assuage the feel-
ings of employees, but to enforce a public policy of separating employ-
ees’ union activity from their job tenure.113 Regardless of what happens 
with that particular employee, it is head-scratching that the employer is 
not enjoined from repeating its unlawful behavior. While not necessari-
ly a strong deterrent, the presence of an unfair labor practice adjudica-
tion against an employer is relevant in many circumstances.114 The Su-
preme Court expressly recognized in NLRB v. Transportation Management
that the Board “might have considered a showing by the employer that 

108 , Lucky Cab Co., 360 N.L.R.B. No. 43, slip op. at 6 (Feb. 20, 2014).. See, e.g.
109. Id.
110 , Garvey Marine, Inc., 328 N.L.R.B. 991, 992 (1999) (considering essentially identical . E.g.

evidence of timing at both initial showing and affirmative-defense stages).
111. Id.
112. 251 N.L.R.B. 1083, 1089 (1980), enforced, 662 F.2d 899 (1st Cir. 1981), cert. denied 455 U.S. 989 

(1982).
113. Util. Workers v. Consolid. Edison Co. of N.Y., 309 U.S. 261, 265 (1940) (“The Board as a 

public agency acting in the public interest, not any private person or group, not any employee or 
group of employees, is chosen as the instrument to assure protection from the described unfair 
conduct in order to remove obstructions to interstate commerce.”).

114. For instance, it might be (a) used as a predicate finding for a determination that an elec-
tion to determine union support can’t be feasibly held e.g., Cal. Gas Transp., Inc., 347 N.L.R.B. ,
1314, 1323 (2006); (b) used to show that an employer has a “proclivity to violate the Act” such that a 
broad-scope injunction against any future unlawful behavior should issue e.g., Ozburn-Hessey ,
Logistics, 361 N.L.R.B. 921, 922 (2011); (c) used as part of a determination that an employer has en-
gaged in pervasive unfair labor practices warranting a public reading by the employer or a Board 
agent to employees explaining their statutory rights, e.g., HTH Corp. v. NLRB, 823 F.3d 668, 678 
(D.C. Cir. 2016); or (d) used as a predicate to hold the employer in contempt of court for future sim-
ilar unfair labor practices e.g., NLRB v. JP Stevens & Co., 563 F. 2d 8, 13 (2d Cir. 1977).,
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the adverse action would have occurred in any event as not obviating a 
violation adjudication but as going only to the permissible remedy[.]”115

In that vein, Title VII’s mixed-motive provisions are so worded; a show-
ing that an employee was disciplined “for cause” defeats only damages, 
not injunctive relief or an award of attorney fees.116

In short, the question of whether an employee was fired “for cause”
should have no independent relevance to whether an unfair labor prac-
tice occurred.117 The only relevant question is whether the employer took 
an adverse action motivated in some fashion by protected activity. Of 
course, the existence of a legitimate-if-credited explanation for the em-
ployer’s actions would tend to show that its actions were not badly mo-
tivated, which is why the test we propose continues to evaluate it. But 
the factfinder cannot and should not lose sight of the ultimate question 
to be answered.

V. PROBLEMS WITH WRIGHT LINE FROM A PRACTITIONER’S PERSPECTIVE

Thus far, we have focused mainly on flaws in how the Board and the 
courts have analyzed discrimination cases. However, the vast majority 
of NLRB cases are disposed of at the NLRB Regional office level. Indeed, 
a typical Region finds merit to only about a third of charges, of which 
over 90% settle before trial.118 But despite these seemingly rosy settle-
ment statistics, differential approaches to investigations and employ-
ers’ legal tricks may disincentivize employees from filing charges in the 
first place.

A. Quasi-judicial vs. Prosecutorial Approaches to Investigation

Here, we detail the peculiarities of investigating discrimination 
charges at the Regional level, depending on whether the investigatory 
approach is quasi-judicial or prosecutorial. These characterizations are 

115. NLRB v. Transp. Mgmt. Corp., 462 U.S. 393, 402 (1983).
116. 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(g)(2)(B) (employer can limit damages by establishing that it would 

have made the same decision “in the absence of the impermissible motivating factor”).
117. As more fully explained below in Part 7 of this Article, in any case involving a close ques-

tion of mixed motives, the employer’s defense that it disciplined an employee “for cause” should be 
litigated in supplemental compliance proceedings.

118. Press Release, NLRB Off. of Pub. Affs., NLRB Closes Out FY 2020 With Favorable Case 
Processing Results (Oct. 30, 2020), https://www.nlrb.gov/news-outreach/news-story/nlrb-closes-
out-fy-2020-with-favorable-case-processing-results [https://perma.cc/9EHJ-8ZVK].
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based on public data,119 are consistent with our personal experiences 
having worked under various Regional Directors, and are deliberately 
over-generalized to show the wide range of possible approaches to Re-
gional investigations. A more streamlined discrimination test could 
provide Regions with better guidance as to how to exercise their consid-
erable discretion.

The NLRB Casehandling Manual encourages a thorough investiga-
tion that “must reveal the totality of the circumstances” while also 
“avoid[ing] unnecessary expenditure of time and energy.”120 Charging 
parties must give sworn affidavits and provide documentary evidence 
lest their charges be dismissed for lack of cooperation.121 In contrast, 
charged parties’ (whether unions or employers) mere assertions in posi-
tion statements are often taken at face value122 because the NLRB lacks 
the resources to compel full cooperation by charged parties. In some in-
stances, a Region may take advantage of its plenary authority under the 
statute to issue investigative subpoenas to uncooperative parties.123 Ul-

119. See Braden Campbell, NLRB Offices Pursue Charges at Varying Rates, Data Show,
LAW360 (Sep. 12, 2022), https://www.law360.com/employment-authority/articles/1529251/nlrb-
offices-pursue-charges-at-varying-rates-data-show?ts_pk=27eb38a0-449f-4808-9dff-
d8bb239deed1&utm_source=user-alerts&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=tracked-search-
alert [https://perma.cc/933S-RLZN] (describing approaches to assessment of evidence and risk 
aversion that may impact rates of finding merit to charges filed against employers).

120. NATL’S LAB. RELS. BD., NLRB CASEHANDLING MANUAL, PART 1, UNFAIR LABOR PRACTICE 
PROCEEDINGS § (Aug. 2022) https://www.nlrb.gov/sites/default/files/attachments/pages10054 ,
/node-174/ulp-manual-august-2022pdf.pdf [https://perma.cc/J35X-VNLT].

121. Id. § 10054.5 FULL AND COMPLETE COOPERATION BY CHARGED PARTY.
122. See CAMPBELL, supra note 119 (quoting Daniel Rojas, a partner at union-side Rothner, 

Segall & Greenstone and a former Region 28 attorney in Phoenix).
123. 9 U.S.C. § 161; NLRB CASEHANDLING MANUAL, supra note 120, § 11770-84 SUBPOENAS.

Nonetheless, Regions differ in their usage of this practice. NLRB General Counsel Memorandum 
18-03, Report on the Midwinter Meeting of the ABA Practice and Procedure Under the National 
Labor Relations Act Committee of the Labor and Employment Law Section 6–7 (Mar. 14, 2018). In 
fiscal year 2017, Region 22 (Newark) issued 228 investigative subpoenas, Region 15/26 (New Orle-
ans/Memphis/Little Rock) issued 224, and Region 18/30 (Minneapolis/Milwaukee) issued 156. Com-
pare that to Regions 3 (Buffalo) and 25/33 (Indianapolis), which each issued four. Despite being in 
major metropolitan areas with historically high case intake, Region 2 (Manhattan) issued only 23 
subpoenas, and Region 4 (Philadelphia) issued 21. See also Operations-Management Memorandum 
19-05 from Beth Tursell, Associate to the General Counsel, to all regional directors, officers-in charge,
and resident officers (Mar. 13, 2019) https://apps.nlrb.gov/link/document.aspx/09031d4582b39def
[https://perma.cc/B4ZY-P3B5], “Noting Respondents Failure to Cooperate with ULP Investigations 
in Subsequently-Issued Complaints,” discouraging usage of such subpoenas. This Memo was re-
scinded on Feb. 2, 2021, by Operations-Management Memorandum 21-04 by Acting GC Peter Sung 
Ohr, who was appointed by President Joseph Biden after he discharged Trump-appointed GC Peter 
Robb. Operations-Management Memorandum 21-04 from Beth Tursell, Associate to the General 
Counsel, to all regional directors, officers-in charge, and resident officers (Feb. 2, 2021) 
https://apps.nlrb.gov/link/document.aspx/09031d458336dcf3 [https://perma.cc/SW34-2NMR].



26 University of Michigan Journal of Law Reform [Vol. 56:1

timately, “[t]he Regional Director has the final authority and responsi-
bility to make all casehandling decisions within the Regional Office.”124

Quasi-judicial approaches leave no stone unturned in the investiga-
tion. Agents take lengthy and detailed testimony from charging-party 
witnesses and liberally issue investigative subpoenas to neutral wit-
nesses whenever necessary. Regional staff weigh all evidence, much in 
the way a judge might, before determining whether the case has merit.
In effect, the case is pre-litigated before a complaint might issue. Be-
cause a merit determination requires strong evidence, one might pre-
sume that this approach affords considerable leverage in settlement ne-
gotiations, as charged parties can reasonably conclude that their 
chances of victory at trial will be slim.125 On the other hand, in an effort 
not to prejudge cases, this approach may discourage Board agents from 
settling prior to a merit determination, requiring additional expendi-
ture of resources for weak cases. The quasi-judicial approach can be 
burdensome for charging parties, who could be discouraged by the du-
ration and degree of personal investment in the process. Those same 
charging parties, however, may feel reassured that their story was 
meaningfully heard and digested. 

Alternatively, agents may take a more prosecutorial approach to-
ward a given case, characterized by aggressiveness and greater risk-
taking. Under this approach, only a colorable showing of a violation is 
required to warrant a merit finding, even if the charged party has a 
plausible defense. Complaints are issued more liberally because com-
paratively weaker evidence will still result in a merit finding by a Re-
gional Director. Taking literally the NLRB case handling manual’s in-
struction that only a judge can make credibility determinations, 
prosecutorial approaches give charging parties their day in court in-
stead of exhaustively investigating a charge only to conclude that the 
charge ultimately lacks merit.126 Thus, this approach envisions a strictly 
prosecutorial role by the Region on behalf of the charging party, after 

124. NLRB CASEHANDLING MANUAL, supra note 120, § 10068.2.
125. However, the data suggest otherwise.  See CAMPBELL, supra note 119. A linear regression 

between merit rate and settlement rate in the Law360 data produced an R-squared of 0.028 and a 
result that failed statistical significance at even a 60% level, indicating that the two variables are 
hardly correlated at all—indeed, this is visually obvious simply by using the variables as the axes of 
a scatter graph. Moreover, to the extent there was any correlation at all, merit rate actually had a 
(marginal and statistically insignificant) positive effect on settlement rate, the opposite of what one 
would expect if Regions issuing complaints in fewer cases were selectively litigating only the 
strongest cases. Further research using more granular data sets is needed in this area.

126. See NLRB CASEHANDLING MANUAL, PART 1, UNFAIR LABOR PRACTICE PROCEEDINGS § 10064 
(Mar. 2021), https://www.nlrb.gov/sites/default/files/attachments/pages/node-174/ulp-manual-
march-2021.pdf [https://perma.cc/J35X-VNLT].
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which judges, the Board, and the courts (rather than the Region itself) 
are left to wrangle with the minutiae and credibility issues.

We do not wish to express an opinion on the relative merits of the 
quasi-judicial or prosecutorial approaches. There is no clear evidence 
that either approach produces better results for employees.127 And all 
Regions, even the most conservative or aggressive, will employ a com-
bination of approaches depending on the type of case.128 Rather, we aim 
to show that the legal standard for assessing NLRA discrimination 
should be formulated with the pre-litigation investigative stage in 
mind. Wright Line provides no guidance for investigators to assess what 
constitutes a proper defense to a showing of discrimination, nor does it 
cue the investigator to probe into possible pretext. In Part 8 of this Arti-
cle, we provide an example of how, even irrespective of a quasi-judicial 
or aggressive prosecutorial approach, Wright Line’s superficiality can re-
sult in anti-Section 7 discrimination never being litigated.

B. Employers’ Tactics 

Another issue with Wright Line from a practitioner’s perspective is 
the numerous tricks skilled employer counsel have at their disposal. 
Based on personal experience during our careers in the field, we suspect 
that some attorneys are advising employers to target secondary union 
supporters who are less vocal or conspicuous, to create plausible denia-
bility by virtue of leaving the lead activists alone.129 Other employers 
may discharge such activists alongside innocent bystanders to prove a 
lack of disparate treatment and broad application of an employer’s poli-
cy.130 The latter are called white sheep/black sheep or collateral damage 
cases, which are notoriously difficult to prove and will be addressed in 

127. See CAMPBELL, supra note 119.
128. Looming over all investigative decisions is, of course, the need to deal with resource con-

straints. The NLRB has, despite considerable inflation in the meantime, received flat funding since 
2014, effectively amounting to an enormous budget cut in real terms. See, e.g., Ihna Mangundayao 
and Celine McNicholas, Congress Should Boost NLRB Funding to Protect Worker Well-being, ECON. POL’Y
INST. (Feb. 28, 2022, 2:52 PM), https://www.epi.org/blog/congress-should-boost-nlrb-funding-to-
protect-workers-well-being/ [https://perma.cc/6YVN-KR4Z]. Although still not statistically signifi-
cant given the low number of data points, the Law360 data show a clear decline in projected merit 
rates as the number of charges filed in a given region increases. It is not remotely a coincidence 
that the Region most overloaded with charges, Region 10, is also the Region with the lowest merit 
and settlement rates. That outcome is, rather, the predictable result of starving the agency of fund-
ing (analysis on file with author).

129. This claim is admittedly anecdotal but borne out from the authors’ extensive experience 
working in the field.

130 , Majestic Molded Products v. NLRB, 330 F.2d 603, 606 (2d Cir. 1964).. See, e.g.
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greater detail when we discuss our proposed General Counsel rebuttal 
burden. Finally, experienced counsel take advantage of the fact that Re-
gional Directors do not always subject assertions and documentary evi-
dence contained in employer position statements to the same level of 
scrutiny directed toward charging parties.131 Accordingly, during the 
pre-litigation investigation, it is common for employers to provide very 
few details about the contexts in which other employees may have been 
subjected to adverse actions pursuant to a policy, or the deliberative 
process through which the employer ultimately decided to undertake 
the adverse action.132 This lack of detail makes it difficult for Regions to 
assess whether a personnel action was undertaken “for cause” within 
the meaning of Section 10(c) of the NLRA, which lamentably is not a fac-
tor that the Board and the courts even consider when applying Wright 
Line.

VI. LOOKING TO OTHER STATUTES FOR HINTS OF A BETTER TEST

Having established that Wright Line is deficient for historic, doctri-
nal, and practical reasons, where might one turn to find a suitable re-
placement? While imperfect, we believe that jurisprudence from other 
discrimination statutes at least contains some hints. Hence, we analyze 
the Supreme Court’s decisions in Mt. Healthy,133 McDonnell Douglas Corp. 
v. Green,134 Price Waterhouse v. Hopkins,135 and their progeny for inspira-
tion.

A. First Amendment 

As noted in Part 2 of this Article, the Wright Line test originated 
from Mt. Healthy City Bd. of Ed. v. Doyle, a First Amendment case. Fred 
Doyle, an untenured teacher in a public school district, was discharged 
shortly after he made critical telephonic remarks about a school dress 

131. See NLRB CASEHANDLING MANUAL, supra note 120, § 10054.1. While charging parties’ cases 
are subject to dismissal for failing to fully cooperate with the Region, charged parties are not held 
to the same test. As such, charged parties have little incentive to provide as much detail in their 
defenses and tend to provide only the information sufficient to persuade an RD to dismiss the case. 
See id. § 10054.5.

132. See NLRB CASEHANDLING MANUAL, supra note 120, § 10054.5.
133. 429 U.S. 274 (1979).
134. 411 U.S. 792 (1973).
135. 490 U.S. 228 (1989).
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code to a radio station.136 Doyle also engaged in other significant mis-
conduct, including a verbal altercation with another teacher, using pro-
fanity toward students, and making a lewd gesture toward female stu-
dents.137 Doyle sued the Mt. Healthy School District Board of Education 
for violating his rights under the First and Fourteenth Amendments to 
the United States Constitution. The District Court, affirmed, by the 
Court of Appeals, held that the telephone call was protected by the First 
Amendment and that because it played a substantial role in the decision 
to discharge him, Doyle was entitled to reinstatement and backpay.138

The Supreme Court, however, was concerned that such a remedy “could 
place an employee in a better position as a result of the exercise of con-
stitutionally protected conduct than he would have occupied had he 
done nothing.”139 The Court reasoned:

This is especially true where, as the District Court observed was 
the case here, the current decision to rehire will accord “ten-
ure.” The long-term consequences of an award of tenure are of 
great moment both to the employee and to the employer. They 
are too significant for us to hold that the Board in this case 
would be precluded, because it considered constitutionally pro-
tected conduct in deciding not to rehire Doyle, from attempting 
to prove to a trier of fact that quite apart from such conduct 
Doyle’s record was such that he would not have been rehired in 
any event.140

Thus, the Court proposed a test whereby the plaintiff bears the initial 
burden to show that his conduct was constitutionally protected and that 
his conduct was a substantial or motivating factor in the employer’s de-
cision not to rehire him, after which the burden shifts to the employer 
to show, by a preponderance of the evidence, that it would have reached 
the same decision as to respondent’s re-employment even in the ab-
sence of the protected conduct.141

Mt. Healthy’s context is distinguishable from those of a typical NLRB 
discrimination charge in three respects. First, a reinstatement remedy 
would have granted tenure to Doyle at his public school. As such, the 
remedy had a longer-term impact than would the ordinary discharge 

136. 429 U.S at 282..
137 at 281–82.. Id.
138 at 283.. Id.
139. Id. at 285.
140 at 286. Id.
141. Id. at 287.
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under the NLRA, after which an employer can still reasonably discharge 
a reinstated employee for lawful reasons.142 Second, the case involved 
the free-speech provisions of the First Amendment rather than a statute 
that expressly protects against a certain type of discrimination.143 Thus, 
the Court was evaluating conduct that an employee had the right to en-
gage in, but without a corollary prohibition on the employer’s adverse ac-
tion. The lack of such a prohibition arguably would grant an employer 
greater freedom to engage in an adverse action. Finally, Section 1 of the 
NLRA states that the purpose of the Act is to promote Section 7 rights, 
and Section 8(a)(1) and 8(a)(3) make it unlawful to interfere with those 
rights.144 Unlike the First Amendment, the NLRA implicitly contem-
plates an inherent power differential between employers and employees 
that necessitates government intervention (the NLRB’s General Counsel
and Board) to protect certain kinds of employee behavior. No such enti-
ty exists for the singular purpose of enforcing the First Amendment.

B. Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1965

Discrimination in the context of discriminatory hiring under Title 
VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1965 is often analyzed under McDonnell 
Douglas Corp. v. Green.145 A prima facie case of discrimination under that 
statute is established by producing evidence that (1) plaintiff is protect-
ed by the applicable employment discrimination statute; (2) she applied 
for a job for which she was qualified; (3) she was not hired; and (4) the 
position remained open and the employer continued to seek applicants 
with qualifications like those of plaintiff.146 If this burden is satisfied, 

142. A finding of discrimination under the Act does not confer any sort of blanket immunity to 
the discriminatee. See, e.g., Ozburn-Hessey Logistics, 366 N.L.R.B. No. 177, slip op. at 39, 46 (2018) 
(upholding discharge of an employee previously reinstated for past discrimination in violation of 
Section 8(a)(3)). The employee is still subject to the employer’s policies and, if the employer remains 
non-union, the employee is likely to be at-will and not protected by an employment contract.

143. 29 U.S.C. § 151

(“It is hereby declared to be the policy of the United States to eliminate the causes of cer-
tain substantial obstructions to the free flow of commerce and to mitigate and eliminate 
these obstructions when they have occurred by encouraging the practice and procedure 
of collective bargaining and by protecting the exercise by workers of full freedom of as-
sociation, self-organization, and designation of representatives of their own choosing, 
for the purpose of negotiating the terms and conditions of their employment or other 
mutual aid or protection.”).

144. 29 U.S.C. § 151.
145. 411 U.S. 792 (1973).
146. Id. at 802.
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there is a weak rebuttable presumption of discrimination.147 The em-
ployer may then rebut that presumption by producing evidence of a “le-
gitimate, nondiscriminatory reason” for the adverse action.148 If the 
employer satisfies this minimal burden, the burden of production shifts 
back to the plaintiff to prove that the employer’s proffered reason was 
pretextual.149

McDonnell Douglas is significantly different from Mt. Healthy for 
four reasons: (1) it expressly addresses disparate treatment; (2) it does 
not require an explicit examination of the employer’s motives; (3) it re-
quires that employers proffer legitimate reasons for adverse actions as 
opposed to merely other reasons; and (4) it shifts the burden back to the 
plaintiff to establish that the employer’s defense was pretextual. None-
theless, McDonnell Douglas has been criticized by scholars for a slew of 
reasons,150 including the ambiguous role that the prima facie case plays in 
later stages of the analysis,151 the tortification of the test with reliance on 
the weak tort principle of res ipsa loquitor,152 and the difficulty of evalu-
ating causation in mixed-motive cases.153 Still, by evaluating disparate 
treatment rather than motive, this test requires the parties to evaluate 
the personnel action in a broader and more practical context. Further, it 
forces the adjudicator not to accept employers’ defenses at face value, 
requiring an assessment of whether the reason was legitimate, and if 
so, whether there nonetheless might be reasons to believe that that rea-
son was pretextual.

Curiously, McDonnell Douglas is not mentioned in the Supreme 
Court’s recent landmark Bostock v. Clayton County decision, in which the 
Court held that discrimination against sexual orientation or gender 
identity constituted discrimination based on sex.154 Noting that Title 
VII’s prohibition on sex discrimination uses the terms “because of”
without the qualifiers “solely” or “primarily,” the Court reasoned that it 
could find a violation if sex was one of several motivating factors in the 
personnel action, even amid other lawful factors.155 Ipso facto, if “be-

147. Id. at 802.
148. Id.
149. Id. at 804.
150. E.g., William R. Corbett, Fixing Employment Discrimination Law, 62 SMU L. REV. 81 (2009).
151. Michael J. Hayes, That Pernicious Pop-Up, the Prima Facie Case, 39 SUFFOLK U. L. REV. 343 

(2006).
152. William. R. Corbett, Unmasking a Pretext for Res Ipsa Loquitur: A Proposal to Let Employment 

Discrimination Speak for Itself, 62 AM. U. L. REV. 447 (2013).
153. Martin J. Katz, The Fundamental Incoherence of Title VII: Making Sense of Causation in Disparate 

Treatment Law, 94 GEO. L.J. 489 (2006).
154. Bostock v. Clayton Cty., Georgia, 140 U.S. 1731, 1739 (2020).
155. Id. at 1740.
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cause of” encompasses situations where an employer’s action is moti-
vated by more than one cause, then the NLRA’s use of the even broader 
“in regard to” must operate similarly.

After McDonnell-Douglas, in Price Waterhouse v. Hopkins, the Court 
clarified that Title VII cases generally fall into two categories.156 For pre-
text cases, where the issue is the employer’s true motive for a personnel 
action, the McDonnell Douglas framework applies.157 For mixed-motive 
cases, where there is direct evidence that forbidden factors were con-
sidered in reaching an employment action, the Mt. Healthy test ap-
plies.158 Significantly, the Court in Price Waterhouse mentioned NLRB v. 
Transportation Management Corp., where the Court affirmed Wright Line,
emphasizing the virtue of consistency across the various anti-
discrimination statutes.159

We view Price Waterhouse as taking a wrong turn here. The search 
for a “true motive” will forever remain elusive for both epistemic and 
practical reasons. Indeed, courts have struggled mightily to apply the 
distinction,160 and scholars have had equal difficulty in parsing it.161 We 
accordingly reject the pretext/mixed-motive distinction of Price Water-
house in our proposed test.

C. Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967

The Supreme Court’s decision in Babb v. Wilkie illustrates the im-
portance of scrutinizing the precise language within discrimination 
statutes.162 The federal-sector provision of the ADEA states, in relevant 
part: “All personnel actions affecting employees or applicants for em-
ployment who are at least 40 years of age . . . shall be made free from 
any discrimination based on age.”163 The Court held that “free from any 
discrimination based on age” warranted broader consideration than the 
ADEA’s private-sector counterpart,164 which provides that “It shall be 
unlawful for an employer. . .to fail or refuse to hire or to discharge any 
individual or otherwise discriminate against any individual with respect 
to his compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment, 

156. 490 U.S. 228 (1989).
157 at 241.. Id.
158 at 249.. Id.
159 at 244–48. (citing NLRB v. Transp. Mgmt. Corp., 462 U.S. 393, 400, n.5 (1983)).. Id.
160. See discussion supra Part 2.
161. Katz, supra note 153.
162. Babb v. Wilkie, 140 S. Ct. 1168 (2020).
163. 29 U.S.C. § 633(a).
164. Babb, 140 S. Ct. at 1176 (citing 29 U.S.C. § 623(a)(1)).
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because of such individual’s age”.165 Thus, the Court in Babb v. Wilkie
held that for federal-sector ADEA claims, a mere showing that age was 
considered in a personnel decision is sufficient for relief, in contrast to 
the “but-for” test required in all private-sector employment discrimina-
tion statutes.166 One might reasonably infer that the Court would hold 
that the NLRA, which also does not use the terms “because of,” would 
entail similarly broad protections. 

D. Lessons from Other Statutes

The foregoing discussion should make clear that NLRA discrimina-
tion jurisprudence has fallen behind that of other employment-
discrimination statutes. Analogous statutes have developed tests that 
have evolved beyond the oversimplified Mt. Healthy considerations and 
wrestle more deeply with statutory text. The Supreme Court takes very 
seriously the precise wording of the causal language within these stat-
utes and how that wording bears on evidentiary burdens. Rather than 
being awkwardly retrofitted to align with these separate jurisprudenc-
es,167 the NLRA needs its own test that properly recognizes the subtleties 
of its language and contemporary industrial realities. In the following 
section, we explain how our proposed test is better tailored to the lan-
guage within Section 8(a)(3).

165. 29 U.S.C. § 623(a)(1) (emphasis added).
166. Babb, 140 S. Ct. at 1175–78.
167. See, e.g., Rebecca Hanner White, Modern Discrimination Theory and the National Labor Rela-

tions Act, 39 WM. & MARY L. REV. 99, 162 (1997). White contends that the Board should adopt Title 
VII’s distinction between disparate treatment and disparate impact, and abandon Wright Line’s
animus requirement, in order to resolve the ambiguity and incoherence in Board law regarding 
proof of discriminatory motive. Id. Unfortunately, Hanner White’s analysis suffers from a confla-
tion of Section 8(a)(1) cases regarding overbroad rules with 8(a)(3) and 8(a)(1) discrimination cases. 
See id. at 109.  These are separate jurisprudences and, while they both wrestle with Section 7 and 
8(a)(1) of the NLRA, they do so for different reasons. Hanner White’s prescriptions are also narrow-
ly focused on the problems surrounding proving animus, an oversimplification in our view. See id. 
at 140.  Even if the animus requirement were entirely removed, under current law employers would 
still have the arrows in their quivers that we described in Part 5 of this Article. Worse, Hanner 
White overemphasizes the materiality of the inherently destructive/comparatively slight analysis in 
NLRB v. Great Dane Trailers, Inc., 388 U.S. 26 (1967), whose application is so narrow as to be irrele-
vant for most discrimination cases. See Hanner White, supra note 172, at 135.  Great Dane is typically 
applied when an employer’s action has an unambiguous effect on Section 7 rights writ large, such 
as in cases involving mass discharges or implementation of policies that would discriminate on the 
basis of representational status. For recent examples, see Hawaiian Dredging Constr. Co. Inc., 368 
N.L.R.B. No. 7 (2019); Woodcrest Health Care Ctr., 366 N.L.R.B. No. 70 (2018) and Southcoast 
Hosps. Grp., Inc., 365 N.L.R.B. No. 140 (2017). Those of us in the field rarely come across Great 
Dane cases because employers tend to discriminate by more surreptitious means.



34 University of Michigan Journal of Law Reform [Vol. 56:1

VII. EXPLAINING OUR PROPOSED TEST 

The Mt. Healthy test is inadequate for proper enforcement of the 
NLRA, and the Board’s jurisprudence on discrimination has failed to 
engage in the kind of close reading of the statutory language that courts 
have engaged in for similar discrimination statutes. The NLRA needs a 
test that relies more heavily on language found directly in the statute: 
whether there is evidence of interference, restraint or coercion;168

whether the conduct encourages or discourages membership in any la-
bor organization;169 whether discrimination occurred “in regard to” a 
term or condition of employment;170 and whether the personnel action 
was “for cause.”171

Whereas the NLRA protects union-like activity in addition to union 
activity (by virtue of the “concerted activities for mutual aid and protec-
tion” clause), the other statutes do not have similar breadth. Thus, the 
plain language of the NLRA protects not only union supporters but also 
the constellation of collective workplace activities that might germinate 
in response to employer overreach. Such a framework differs from the 
static, identity-based categories contemplated by Title VII and the 
ADEA, in which significant work is required to differentiate between 
discrimination based on belonging to a protected category (e.g., race), 
and conduct that may be implicated by or associated with that category 
(e.g., racially stereotypical behavior or appearance). Those statutes also 
require balancing different interests such as diversity and the need to 
address and remedy systemic racism and historic patterns of discrimi-
nation.172 In some respects, the NLRA bears a closer relationship to dis-
ability discrimination, which expressly encompasses not just identity 
but also history (it protects employees with a record of having been dis-
abled) and employer perceptions (protecting employees who are regard-
ed by an employer as disabled).173

It follows that the NLRA needs a uniquely tailored test that properly 
assesses discrimination rooted in the broad protections contemplated 

168. 29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(1).
169. 29 U.S.C § 158(a)(3).
170. Id.
171. 29 U.S.C § 160(c).
172. However, in the case of sex discrimination, Title VII expressly states that the terms “be-

cause of sex” and “on the basis of sex” encompass “pregnancy, childbirth, [and] related medical 
conditions.” 42 U. S. C. §2000e(k). Furthermore, discrimination against women with young chil-
dren was recognized as tantamount to sex discrimination, even though the employer was not dis-
criminating against women per se. See Phillips v. Martin Marietta Corp., 400 U. S. 542 (1971) (per 
curiam).

173. 42 U.S.C. § 12102(1)(A)-(C)
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in Section 7. Such a test must assess conduct and use proper heuristics 
to account for the interaction between employee and employer inter-
ests. In the sections that follow, we explain why our test would be an ef-
fective replacement for Wright Line, evaluating each of our proposed 
burdens in turn. 

A. Initial Showing

As we explained in Part 2 of this Article, the broad language of the 
NLRA justifies an expansive view of what might ultimately be deemed 
“protected” activity under the statute. Indeed, Section 8(a)(1) of the Act 
makes it an unfair labor practice for an employer to “interfere with, re-
strain, or coerce employees in the exercise of the rights guaranteed by 
Section 7.”174 Discharges for concerted, rather than union, activity are 
violations of Section 8(a)(1)—not Section 8(a)(3).175

Moreover, the knowledge, animus, and adverse-action prongs can 
be abused by adjudicators to dismiss otherwise meritorious cases. The 
knowledge prong is redundant at best, especially when there is evidence 
of particularized animus toward the discriminatee. In a similar vein, 
the “animus” prong, while reasonable at first blush, has been interpret-
ed by the Board and the courts to imply a causal nexus requirement.176

Causality is difficult for researchers to prove through controlled labora-
tory experiments, let alone by jurists on the basis of testimony in an 
NLRB proceeding.177 The nexus requirement, too, is prone to question-
able outcomes.178 Additionally, the “adverse action” requirement con-
notes concrete employment decisions rather than the sometimes-subtle 

174. 29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(1).
175. See, e.g., NLRB v. Wash. Aluminum Co., 370 U.S. 9, 12–13 (1962).
176. Tschiggfrie Props., Ltd. v. NLRB, 896 F.3d 880, 885 (8th Cir. 2018).
177. Though beyond the scope of this Article, it bears mentioning that the search for a con-

sistent definition of “proximate cause” has eluded jurists in several other areas of law.  See, e.g.,
Mark A. Geistfeld, Proximate Cause Untangled, 80 Md. L. Rev. 420 (2021); Amy L. Landers, Proximate 
Cause and Patent Law, 25 B.U. J. SCI. & TECH. L. 329, 353 (2019); Martin Lijtmaer, The Felony Murder 
Rule in Illinois: The Injustice of the Proximate Cause Theory Explored Via Research in Cognitive Psychology,
98 J. CRIM. L. & CRIMINOLOGY 621 (2008); Peter Nash Swisher, Causation Requirements in Tort and In-
surance Law Practice: Demystifying Some Legal Causation “Riddles”, 43 TORT TRIAL & INS. PRAC. L.J. 1, 8, 
22 (2007).

178. See Ohio Bell Tel. Co., 370 N.L.R.B. No. 29, slip op. at 4 (Oct. 28, 2020), where the Board 
used a narrow understanding of causality to dismiss certain allegations regarding employees dis-
ciplined for conduct that happened mere minutes after concerted activity. Though the Board found 
a violation for adverse actions taken against other employees for the very same concerted activity, 
it eliminated the make-whole remedy for those employees by bifurcating the temporal scope of its 
analysis to that which occurred during the concerted activity versus that which happened after the 
concerted activity.
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forms of retaliation that would nonetheless implicate Sections 8(a)(1) 
and 8(a)(3) of the NLRA.179

We therefore propose that an initial showing of discrimination be 
established by (1) evidence of retaliation taken or disparate treatment 
condoned against an employee for activities that implicate the concerns 
within Section 7; and (2) a showing of either general knowledge that the 
employee was inclined toward Section 7 activity or that the employer 
exhibited generalized animus against any Section 7 activity. Rather 
than functioning as a rebuttable presumption, the initial showing is 
sufficient in and of itself to establish the elements of an unfair labor 
practice under Section 8(a)(3), let alone Section 8(a)(1) and (4). That ini-
tial showing would thus be the opening of a deeper remedial inquiry 
under Section 10(c) of the Act as to whether the employer discharged the 
employee “for cause” so as to make the employee ineligible for a make-
whole remedy including reinstatement and backpay. While we recog-
nize that Transportation Management compels the initial showing to be a 
burden of persuasion, such a burden can be satisfied without resorting 
to futile analyses of causality.180 This initial showing would eliminate 
any implication of a causality or nexus requirement, and it would re-
serve the more nuanced elements of the analysis to the second and third 
burdens. 

B. Employer’s Burden

Under Wright Line, an employer meets its burden by showing that it 
would have engaged in the same action absent the protected conduct. 
The purported goal is to prevent scenarios in which a bad employee is 
placed in a better situation than they would have been had they engaged 
in similar misconduct, but not protected conduct. Despite this good in-
tention, the practical effect of the employer’s Wright Line burden has 
been to encourage skilled counsel to proffer inferential evidence of what 
the employer could have done, rather than direct evidence of what the 
employer would have done or, in fact did.181 But even assuming that an 

179. The NLRA contains no express adverse-action requirement to make out an unfair labor 
practice under Section 8(a)(3); it merely, as noted above, requires “discrimination in regard to hire 
or tenure of employment or any term or condition of employment.” 29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(3).

180. See, e.g., Tschiggfrie, 896 F.3d at 885.
181. Admittedly, numerous decisions under have relied upon the “could Wright Line

have/would have” distinction to find discrimination. .g., 6 West Limited Corp., 330 N.L.R.B. See, e
527, 528 (2000), (citing Cadbury Beverages, Inc. v. NLRB, 160 F.3d 24, 31 (D.C. Cir. 1998)); Centre 
Property Management, 277 N.L.R.B. 1376, 1376 (1985); North Carolina License Plate Agency #18, 346 
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employer approaches its Wright Line burden in good faith, this test un-
justifiably traps the parties and the adjudicator in a hypothetical, coun-
terfactual world, with no clear guidance on how the employer operates 
in reality. Our proposed modification of the employer’s burden elimi-
nates this guesswork, instead requiring an evaluation of the employer’s
policies and direct evidence linking the adverse action to a violation of 
these policies.

Another problem with the employer’s Wright Line burden is that it 
gives excessive deference to the doctrine of at-will employment. If an 
employer provides a petty reason or fails to give the employee the rea-
son for the adverse action, an employer may still meet its burden.182 At-
will employment forms the unfortunate starting point in all jurisdic-
tions except for Montana, and it gives employers considerable leverage 
both in employment decisions and as litigants.183 We believe that an 
employer should be held to a higher standard: if an employer must pro-
vide a “legitimate . . . reason” in Title VII cases analyzed under McDon-
nell Douglas, it should have to do so for NLRA cases as well.184 This is 
consistent with Section 10(c) of the NLRA, which permits an employer 
to escape liability by showing that a discharge was “for cause.”

Requiring an employer to provide a legitimate reason for the ad-
verse action is also consistent with NLRB v. Burnup & Sims. There, the 
Supreme Court held that when an employer discharges an employee for 
misconduct allegedly committed during Section 7 activity, a violation 
will be found if it can be shown that the employee did not actually en-
gage in the stated misconduct.185 In other words, the Court has recog-
nized that even an employer’s good-faith belief that an employee en-
gaged in misconduct is insufficient to evade liability when the alleged
misconduct occurred in the course of protected activity. 

But Burnup & Sims does not go far enough. It is natural in some 
workplaces for interactions to become heated, provoking unbecoming 
employee conduct that would reasonably prompt an employer to take an 
adverse action. Such scenarios were historically evaluated by the Board 

N.L.R.B. 293, 294 (2006). But the very fact that this line is so difficult to draw, and so frequently 
litigated, indicates that many other cases are almost certainly falling through the cracks.

182 , Electrolux Home Prods., Inc., 368 N.L.R.B. No. 34, slip op. at 2 (Aug. 2., 2019), . See, e.g.
where the Board conceded that the employer had provided a pretextual reason for the discharge 
but found that such pretext alone did not compel a finding of anti-Section 7 animus or a failure to 
meet the Wright Line burden.

183. Joseph E. Slater, The American Rule That Swallows the Exceptions, 11 EMP. RTS. & EMP.
POL’Y J. 53, 103–04 (2007).

184. McDonnell Douglas v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 802 (1973).
185. NLRB v. Burnup & Sims, Inc., 379 U.S. 21, 22–23 (1964).
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under Atlantic Steel Co.,186 using a four-part test to determine whether an 
act of misconduct was so egregious as to render a loss of protection.187

Cases abound in which the Board found a violation despite an employ-
ee’s use of profanity,188 yelling,189 or vulgarity.190 True to form, the Board 
in General Motors LLC eliminated the Atlantic Steel test and held that 
Wright Line alone was sufficient to analyze employee outbursts during 
Section 7 activity. 191 Hence, without Atlantic Steel, an employee who yells 
and insults their supervisor in the course of Section 7 activity is unlikely 
to fare well if the employer has evidence that the employer routinely 
disciplines employees who engage in similar misconduct. Notwith-
standing, even under Atlantic Steel, let alone General Motors, the adjudi-
cator can sua sponte determine that an employee’s otherwise unambigu-
ous Section 7 activity can ultimately lose protection under the Act 
because of conduct that crosses the line. 

The debate over loss of Section 7 protection articulated in General 
Motors evinces another problem with the current test: the concept of 
“protection” in discrimination cases is manifold, leading to ambiguity 
as to which concept is being invoked, when it should be invoked, and 
who bears the burden of proving it. Depending on the context, the con-
cept of protection is invoked as a prong in analyzing whether concerted 
activity is undertaken for mutual aid and protection, as the first prong 
in the establishment of an initial showing under Wright Line, or to eval-
uate those Atlantic Steel scenarios determining whether an employee’s
misconduct renders otherwise unlawful employer activity permissible 
under the circumstances.

Furthermore, neither Atlantic Steel nor Burnup & Sims have ever pro-
tected employees from the more subtle form of discrimination in which 
an employer merely takes note of an employee’s protected activity, then 

186. 245 N.L.R.B. 814, 816 (1979).
187. The Board considers (1) the place of the discussion, (2) the subject matter of the discus-

sion, (3) the nature of the employee’s outburst, and (4) whether the outburst was, in any way, pro-
voked by an employer’s unfair labor practice. Id.

188. Tampa Tribune, 351 N.L.R.B. 1324 (2007) (employee called his boss a “stupid fucking mor-
on”); Plaza Auto Center, Inc., 360 N.L.R.B. 972 (2014) (employee called the owner a “fucking mother 
fucking,” [sic] a “fucking crook,” an “asshole,” and “stupid”). In both of these instances and count-
less others, the Board nonetheless found a discrimination violation despite the employer’s belief 
that these insults were alone sufficient to warrant discharge. Indeed, Plaza Auto was remanded to 
the Board by the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit to reweigh the Atlantic Steel 
factors, yet the Board still found that the employee’s outburst was protected by the Act.

189. Goya Foods of Florida, 347 N.L.R.B. 1118, 1134 (2006) enforced, 525 F.3d 1117 (11th Cir. 2008)
(no loss of protection for loud shouting).

190. Lou’s Transp. Inc., 361 N.L.R.B. 1446, 1459 (2014) (no loss of protection for holding sign 
including stick figure drawing of a person grabbing his or her crotch while dancing).

191. 369 N.L.R.B. No. 127, slip op. at 2 (July 21, 2020).
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commences a search for later “cause” to discharge.192 The original 
Wright Line decision itself involved such a fact pattern.193 A tactically as-
tute employer, rather than firing an employee for an outburst during 
protected conduct, might simply wait until the employee’s next perfor-
mance review and then discharge them for generally having a bad atti-
tude or not being a “team player.”194

The General Motors Board did get one thing right—this is all far too 
complicated.195 Our proposal places the burden squarely on the employer
to argue that conduct was unprotected and unreasonable. We seek to 
simplify the question of protection by having it appear only in the em-
ployer’s burden. While our proposal would not necessarily resolve the 
issue of ambiguity, it would still clarify who bears the burden and how it 
should be raised. In practice, it is already customary for employers to 
argue why conduct is unprotected in addition to providing a Wright Line 
defense, both during the Regional investigation and at trial. Our test 
formalizes this practice and makes explicit to the adjudicator which 
party is ultimately responsible for proving lack of protection. 

We thus propose that when the General Counsel establishes an ini-
tial showing of discrimination (and therefore an unfair labor practice), 
the burden should then shift to the employer (for remedial reasons) to 
show that it engaged in the challenged actions for legitimate reasons
and “for cause” within the meaning of Section 10(c) of the NLRA. In 
evaluating this burden, the Board should consider the existence of a 
lawful policy applied toward the employee, a track record of enforce-
ment of that policy toward similarly situated individuals or a showing 
that no such violations have occurred, documentation suggesting that 
the decision to implement the personnel action pre-dated the Section 7 
activity, or a showing that the Section 7 activity was unprotected and 
unreasonable. Our test not only squares better with extant Title VII law, 
but it makes explicit the elements that 85 years of jurisprudence have 
evinced as relevant considerations when assessing the validity of an 
employer’s defense.196

192. Wright Line, 251 N.L.R.B. 1083 (1980), enforced, 662 F.2d 899 (1st Cir. 1981), cert. denied 455 
U.S. 989 (1982).

193. Id.
194. David Saxe Prods., LLC, 370 N.L.R.B. No. 103, slip op. at 33 (Apr. 5, 2021).
195. General Motors LLC, 369 N.L.R.B. No. 127, slip op. at 2 (July 21, 2020). In justifying the 

mere application of Wright Line, the Board enumerated the varied applications of Atlantic Steel 
toward specific contexts.

196. In fact, the D.C. Circuit will remand a discharge case when the Board fails to consider, as 
part of the analysis of a Wright Line burden, whether an employer reasonably believed that an em-
ployee engaged in the proffered misconduct, and whether the employer’s decision was consistent 
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C. Second General Counsel Burden

Despite a long history of Board jurisprudence on the matter, the 
Wright Line test does not explicitly require the adjudicator to assess pre-
text. A significant minority of NLRB discrimination cases fail to men-
tion the concept of pretext at all. On April 17, 2021, we ran a Westlaw 
search for all Board decisions citing to Wright Line (excluding decisions 
by Administrative Law Judges), which yielded 3,812 results. Of those re-
sults, 2,177, or 57%, included at least one variant of the root word “pre-
text.” Accordingly, it is incumbent upon the General Counsel to proffer 
pretext evidence, or upon an Administrative Law Judge or the Board to 
proactively cite pretext jurisprudence when applying Wright Line.

Curiously, the Board in the original Wright Line decision itself im-
plicitly added a prong to analyze pretext. Though the employer’s de-
fense was colorable at first blush, the Board ultimately ruled in favor of 
the General Counsel due to evidence of disparate treatment, departure 
from past practice, and a predetermined plan to discover a reason to 
fire the discriminatee.197

Because pretext is expressly evaluated in McDonnell Douglas for Title 
VII cases, we see no reason not to embed a pretext analysis into the test 
for NLRA discrimination. To assist the adjudicator, our test makes ex-
plicit the type of information that might constitute pretext. We propose 
that if an employer meets its burden to show that the personnel action 
was taken for cause, then the burden should shift to the General Coun-
sel a second time to show that the employer’s defense was pretextual 
because it was based on untrue factual claims or reasons that were not 
honestly believed. We now turn to the thorny issue of pretext and how 
we propose it should be analyzed.

Pretext has a long history as a marker of discrimination.198 But it is 
an under-defined, inconsistently applied, and oft-overlooked factor in 
NLRA discrimination cases.199 In Electrolux Home Products,200 the Board 
amplified the ambiguity by stating that pretext alone is insufficient to 
constitute discriminatory motive or to overcome an otherwise satisfac-
tory Wright Line burden. The Electrolux Board rejected traditional ap-
proaches to analyzing pretext, reasoning that:

with its policies and past practices. Circus Circus Casinos, Inc. v. NLRB, 961 F.3d 469, 482 (D.C. 
Cir. 2020).

197. Wright Line, 251 N.L.R.B. at 1090–91 (1980).
198 , Shattuck Denn Mining Co. v. NLRB, 362 F.2d 466, 470 (9th Cir. 1966).. See, e.g.
199. See, e.g., Circus Circus Casinos, Inc. 370 N.L.R.B. No. 108, slip op. at 2 (Apr. 15, 2021) 

(dismissing complaint on remand from D.C. Cir. because the court rejected Board’s finding of pre-
text).

200. 368 N.L.R.B. No. 34, slip op. at 3 (Aug. 2, 2019).
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When an employer has offered a pretextual reason for discharg-
ing or disciplining an alleged discriminatee, the real reason 
might be animus against union or protected concerted activi-
ties, but then again it might not. It is possible that the true rea-
son might be a characteristic protected under another statue 
(such as the employer’s race, gender, religion, or disability), or 
it could be some other factor unprotected by the Act or any oth-
er law, which would be a permissible basis for action under the 
at-will employment doctrine.201

The Electrolux decision is at odds with a litany of Board decisions finding 
that while pretext cannot necessarily compel an 8(a)(3) finding,202 pre-
text nonetheless calls the employer’s Wright Line defense into question 
and could even provide inferential evidence of discriminatory motive.203

The Board needs to do better, analytically speaking. Though the 
concept of pretext can be as variably interpreted as the concept of pro-
tection, efforts have been made to narrow the concept down to catego-
ries that help make sense of what pretext looks like and how it should 
factor in the analysis. Expanding upon Kathleen M. Kelly’s two catego-
ries,204 Michael Hayes identified three categories of pretext:

(1) The record makes clear that the facts underlying the employ-
er’s proffered reason(s) for its challenged action did not exist,
(2) There is no support in the record that the facts underlying 
the employer’s proffered reason(s) did exist, or
(3) The record shows that the facts underlying the proffered rea-
son(s) did exist, but the record shows that these facts were 
probably not the real reason for its challenged action.205

Hayes proposes that only the first and third categories should permit an 
inference of unlawful motive for the General Counsel’s initial burden 
because they imply deception or concealment at the employer’s peril.206

Hayes posits that the adjudicator should not infer unlawful motive in 
second-category cases where witness demeanor or deficiencies in rec-

201. Id. at 3 (footnote omitted).
202. Precision Indus., 320 N.L.R.B. 661, 661–62 (1996).
203. Shattuck Denn Mining Co. v. NLRB, 362 F.2d 466, 468–69 (9th Cir. 1966).
204. Kathleen M. Kelly, Wright Line, a Division of Wright Line, Inc., The Right Answer to the 

Wrong Question: A Review of its Impact to Date, 14 PAC. L.J. 869, 882–84 (1983). In Kelly’s formula-
tion, Hayes’s first two categories are collapsed into the same category.

205. Michael J. Hayes, Has Wright Line Gone Wrong—Why Pretext Can Be Sufficient to Prove 
Discrimination Under the National Labor Relations Act, 65 MO. L. REV. 883, 887 (2000).

206. Id.
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ord evidence are insufficient to prove unlawful motive, even though 
second-category pretext may factor into an overall determination that 
the employer failed to meet its Wright Line burden.207 Further, Hayes 
identifies several types of evidence commonly used to support pretext in 
third-category cases: departure from past practice,208 shifting or incon-
sistent reasons,209 and rushing to judgment by failing to investigate the 
circumstances.210

Our solution to the ambiguity of the pretext analysis is to explicitly 
mention the following factors in the test itself: shifting defenses, dis-
parate treatment, particularized animus toward the Section 7 activity, 
white sheep/black sheep considerations, and evidence that the employ-
er targeted or monitored the employee with the deliberate intent to find 
an excuse to engage in the personnel action. Some of our proposed cri-
teria for pretext, like shifting defenses and disparate treatment, are so 
intuitive that one may argue that they are unnecessary to include. Once 
again, the lack of any mention of these criteria in the current test re-
quires that the charging party be savvy enough to present evidence re-
lated to these criteria; we would prefer not to create unnecessary 
guesswork. More importantly, for adjudicators who may not accord 
much weight to shifting defenses or disparate treatment, embedding 
these concepts into the test ensures that these critical considerations 
not be given short shrift. While we agree with Hayes that departure 
from past practice and rushing to judgment raise suspicions, we believe 
that such factors should instead be used to assess the employer’s step-
two burden because the employer itself is best equipped to address 
those questions. We thus do not include departure from past practice or 
rush to judgment in our list for pretext considerations. We will now ex-
plain the rationale for the factors that we chose to include in the list of 
pretext considerations.  

1. Particularized Animus

The Board has long waffled on the extent to which statements ex-
hibiting unlawful motive need be particularized. Until the Board’s 2019 
Tschiggfrie decision,211 anti-union comments privileged by Section 8(c) 

207. Id. at 953–64.
208. Id. at 961.
209. Id. at 962.
210. Id.
211. Tschiggfrie Props., Ltd., 368 N.L.R.B. No. 120, slip op at 5–8 (Nov. 22, 2019).
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could nonetheless be used to establish discriminatory motive,212 and 
those comments did not require a particularized nexus to the discrimi-
natee.213 As we have explained, we propose that generalized animus be 
sufficient to open the inquiry. However, it should go without saying 
that contemporaneous hostile statements by officers, agents, or repre-
sentatives of an employer evince discriminatory motive even where an 
employer has proffered a colorable reason for the adverse action. It is 
the closest thing to a smoking gun available in NLRA discrimination 
cases, and the Board should treat it as such. 

2. White Sheep/Black Sheep or Collateral Damage Considerations

White sheep/black sheep or collateral damage cases are among the 
hardest to prove. These involve innocent casualties who suffer discrim-
ination so that the employer can claim that no disparate treatment oc-
curred: fire the vocal union supporter pursuant to a policy, but also fire 
another poor soul pursuant to that same policy just to show that the un-
ion supporter was not singled out.214 It is difficult to prevail on a white 
sheep/black sheep theory because the Board does not always have the 
resources, or the access, to dig deeper into the comparators proffered 
by an employer to meet a Wright Line burden. Indeed, we found only fif-
ty Board cases that cited Majestic Molded Products v. NLRB, the first case 
to explicitly mention the black sheep/white sheep theory.215 Because it is 
difficult enough to prove at trial that the black sheep suffered discrimi-
nation, let alone any of the white sheep, we suspect that most white 
sheep/black sheep cases get dismissed by Regional Offices of the NLRB 
and thus never make it to trial. 

Though we do not pretend that our proposal would make these 
sorts of cases any easier to prove, we hope that embedding white 
sheep/black sheep considerations into the test would motivate NLRB 
agents and adjudicators to at least reckon with this unfortunate phe-
nomenon. As stated by the Fourth Circuit, “[l]ayoffs intended to ‘dis-
courage membership in any labor organization’ violate the NLRA, even 
if the employer wields an undiscerning axe, and anti-union employees 

212. Carnegie Linen Services, Inc., 357 N.L.R.B. 2222, 2228 (2011); Lampi LLC, 327 N.L.R.B. 
222, 222 (1998).

213. Com. Air, Inc., 362 N.L.R.B. 379, 379 n.1 (2015).
214. E.g., Corliss Res., Inc, 362 N.L.R.B. 195, 197–98 (2015); Alpo Pet Foods, Inc. v. NLRB, 126 

F.3d 246, 255 (4th Cir. 1997); Dawson Carbide Indus., 273 N.L.R.B. 382, 389 (1984), enforced, 782 F.2d 
64 (6th Cir. 1986); Bay Corrugated Container, 310 N.L.R.B. 450, 451(1993), enforced, 12 F.3d 213 (6th 
Cir. 1993); Robin Transp., 310 N.L.R.B. 411, 418 (1993).

215. Majestic Molded Products v. NLRB, 330 F.2d 603, 606 (2d Cir. 1964)
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suffer along with their pro-union counterparts.”216 Similarly, the D.C. 
Circuit recently stated that “the Board has long held” that “an employer’s
discharge of uncommitted, neutral, or inactive employees” either to 
cover up for discrimination against a targeted union-supporting em-
ployee or to discourage employee support for the union “violates Sec-
tion 8(a)(3).”217 Thus, the D.C. Circuit found that the knowledge re-
quirement in Wright Line need not be particularized to the discriminatee 
so long as anti-union animus motivated the adverse actions, because 
the operative concern in the statute is preventing an employer from dis-
couraging its employees’ interest in unionization, not protecting a sin-
gle employee from retaliation because of their union sympathies qua in-
dividual employee.218 We urge the Board to incorporate the D.C. 
Circuit’s rationale into the test itself. 

3. Targeting or Monitoring

The final consideration that ought to be explicitly addressed when 
evaluating pretext is evidence that the employer targeted or monitored 
the employee with the deliberate intent to find an excuse to engage in 
the personnel action. As previously mentioned, the original Wright Line
decision partially relied on targeting and monitoring to reject the em-
ployer’s initially colorable defense. The employer had claimed that it 
discharged the union activist for violating its policy against alteration or 
falsification of time reports.219 Though the employer had produced evi-
dence that the union activist had indeed made errors in his timesheets, 
the Board nonetheless found that the employer only discovered the em-
ployee’s errors because the plant supervisor ordered another supervisor 
to check on the activist—despite lacking cause to be suspicious.220 Rely-
ing also on evidence of a departure from past practice221 and disparate 
treatment, the Board concluded that the employer engaged in a “prede-
termined plan to discover a reason . . . to rid the facility of a union activ-

216. NLRB v. Frigid Storage, Inc., 934 F.2d 506, 510 (4th Cir. 1991) (first citing Birch Run Weld-
ing & Fabricating v. NLRB, 761 F.2d 1175 (6th Cir. 1985); then citing Merchants Truck Line v. NLRB, 
577 F.2d 1011 (5th Cir. 1978); and then citing Majestic Molded Prods., Inc. v. NLRB, 330 F.2d 603 (2d 
Cir. 1964)).

217. Novato Healthcare Ctr. v. NLRB, 916 F.3d 1095, 1105 (D.C. Cir. 2019) (quoting Dawson 
Carbide Indus., 273 N.L.R.B. at 389).

218. Napleton 1050, Inc. v. NLRB, 976 F.3d 30, 41 (D.C. Cir. 2020).
219. Wright Line, 251 N.L.R.B. 1083, 1090 (1980), enforced, 662 F.2d 899 (1st Cir. 1981), cert. denied

455 U.S. 989 (1982).
220. Id.
221. Id.
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ist” and found a violation of Section 8(a)(3).222 Consistent with the 
Board’s original application in the Wright Line decision, we believe that 
the test should make clear that evidence of suspicious targeting or mon-
itoring would ordinarily defeat an otherwise-plausible employer de-
fense. 

VIII. APPLICATION OF THE NEW TEST IN PRACTICE

In this Part, we apply our test to a fictional scenario, and then to an 
actual NLRB case that illustrates the pitfalls of how Section 7 discrimi-
nation is typically analyzed. In both contexts, we show how our test 
would provide a more just result. 

Before we delve into some examples of how our proposed test might 
play out, we should elucidate the process by which Unfair Labor Prac-
tice charges are investigated by the NLRB’s Regional Offices. Section 
10(b) of the NLRA imposes a six-month statute of limitations for charg-
es to be filed with the NLRB.223 Any individual or organization may file 
such a charge, which tends to be a single-page document alleging the 
Section of the NLRA that was violated and that briefly describing the 
unlawful conduct. Charges are filed based on the location of the affect-
ed employees, and that location determines which of the 26 Regional 
Offices will process the charge. 224 Upon receipt by a Regional Office, the 
charge is docketed and assigned to a single NLRB agent, either a Labor-
Management Relations Examiner (Field Examiner) or a Field Attorney. 
For cases alleging 8(a)(1) or 8(a)(3) discharges, especially those in union-
organizing contexts, Regions typically strive to determine whether to 
issue a complaint within two calendar months.225

To initiate the investigation, the assigned NLRB agent contacts the 
involved parties to obtain a general understanding of the facts. Within
two weeks, or even sooner in cases where an injunction under Section 

222. Id. at 1091.
223. 29 U.S.C. § 160(b).
224. Allegations involving social media, though, could give rise to forum shopping. See, e.g.,

cases involving Twitter tweets that violate Section 8(a)(1): Tesla, Inc., 370 N.L.R.B. No. 101, slip op 
at 9 (Mar. 25, 2021); FDRLST Media, LLC, 370 N.L.R.B. No. 49, slip op. at 1 n.5 (Nov. 24, 2020) en-
forcement denied 35 F.4th 108 (3d Cir. 2022).

225 Memorandum from Jennifer A. Abruzzo, General Counsel, to all regional directors, . See 
officers-in charge, and resident officers of the NLRB, https://www.nlrb.gov/guidance/memos-
research/general-counsel-memos [https://perma.cc/J2TB-X3GW] (sorted by date, from most re-
cent and descending; scroll to view this memorandum GC 22-05 dated 05/27/2022). Note that the 
determination of whether to issue a complaint will typically occur some weeks before the com-
plaint issues, because attempts are usually made to settle the case prior to issuance of the com-
plaint. NLRB CASEHANDLING MANUAL, supra note 120,See § 10126.2.
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10(j) may be implicated,226 a discriminatee is expected to provide a 
sworn affidavit to the agent and to submit documentary evidence such 
as discharge letters, pay stubs, prior discipline, and the employee hand-
book. If the affidavit suggests that the case might have merit, the agent 
will send the employer a Request for Evidence, a formal letter spelling 
out the allegations more specifically, requesting documents and re-
sponses to questions, and requesting that the employer fully cooperate 
by presenting its own witnesses for sworn affidavits. Full cooperation is 
rare, and the charged party generally submits a short position state-
ment ignoring the detailed inquiries in the agent’s letter.227 Thereafter, 
the agent attempts to track down corroboration either through individ-
uals controlled by the charging party, or through third parties—
sometimes issuing investigative subpoenas to compel testimony by un-
cooperative parties.228 The agent will often provide the discriminatee a 
chance to rebut the employer’s defense before the case is presented to a 
panel of Regional managers for a decision. Panel composition differs by 
Region, but a panel will usually include at least the Regional Director, 
the investigating agent, and that agent’s first-line supervisor. 

The Regional Director can render one of four decisions. First, they
can find merit to the charge, which would initiate an attempt to settle 
before issuing any complaint for a hearing before an NLRB Administra-
tive Law Judge. If a complaint is issued, the General Counsel becomes 
the complainant and thereafter acts in the public interest (not strictly 
the interest of the charging party).229 Second, the Regional Director can 

226. For a description of the expedited timeline involving cases that might warrant an injunc-
tion, see NLRB Gen. Couns. Mem. 10-07, Effective Section 10(j) Remedies for Unlawful Discharges 
in Organizing Campaigns (Sept. 30, 2010).

227. See discussion on “quasi-judicial vs. prosecutorial approaches to investigation,” supra pp.
24–27.

228. By contrast, investigative subpoenas are not typically issued against the charged party. 
Rather, a common practice—briefly formalized by ex-General Counsel Peter Robb, but widely em-
ployed informally—is to simply note the lack of cooperation and weigh that fact in the Region’s
decision calculus on whether to issue complaints. Memorandum from Beth Tursell, Associate See
to the General Counsel, to all regional directors, officers-in charge, and resident officers of the 
NLRB (Mar. 13, 2019), https://www.nlrb.gov/guidance/memos-research/operations-management-
memos (sorted by date, from most recent and descending; scroll to view this memorandum OM 19-
05 dated 03/13/2019). This Memo was rescinded on by NLRB Operations-Management Memoran-
dum 21-04. Memorandum from Beth Tursell, Associate to the General Counsel, to all regional di-
rectors, officers-in charge, and resident officers of the NLRB (Feb 2, 2021), https://www.nlrb.gov/
guidance/memos-research/operations-management-memos [https://perma.cc/9RFE-5KYA] (sort-
ed by date, from most recent and descending; scroll to view this memorandum OM 21-04 dated 
02/02/2021).

229 29 CFR § 102.15, When and by whom issued; contents; service, available online at. See
https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=6447b9014f6c25e84299dab01b34b372&mc=true&node=
pt29.2.102&rgn=div5#se29.2.102_173 [https://perma.cc/BN3N-VF24] (last visited Apr. 16, 2021).
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dismiss the charge, which provides a two-week window for the charg-
ing party to appeal the decision to the Office of Appeals in Washington, 
D.C. for a de novo review.230 Third, the Regional Director may defer the 
charge to the parties’ grievance-arbitration procedure as long as (1) the
parties are covered by a collective bargaining agreement that provides 
for final and binding arbitration, (2) the dispute is covered by that 
agreement, and (3) the employer agrees to waive all timeliness require-
ments impeding the processing of the grievance under that agree-
ment.231 Finally, for cases involving unique legal issues or relating to ini-
tiatives by the General Counsel to change extant law, the Regional 
Director may, and is sometimes required to, submit the case to the 
NLRB’s Division of Advice.232 The Division of Advice, which ultimately 
answers to the presidentially appointed General Counsel, will render a 
decision after several months as to how the Region should proceed. 

At any stage, the parties may enter into an informal Board settle-
ment to remedy the charge almost identically to how an ALJ or the 
Board would remedy it through full adjudication. Further, the charging 
party may request withdrawal of a charge at any time and for any rea-
son, including a private resolution between the parties that does not 
necessarily entail a traditional remedy.233

This process is unusual for a federal agency that enforces an em-
ployment-related statute. It involves a deep investigation by highly edu-
cated subject-matter experts before any formal litigation, and it pre-

230 . §§ 101.4 101.6, available online at https://www.ecfr.gov/https://www.ecfr.gov. See id –
/current/title-29/subtitle-B/chapter-I/part-101 [https://perma.cc/TNV3-3RV3] (last visited Apr. 16, 
2021). Though uncommon, a Regional Director has the discretion to dismiss meritorious allega-
tions because of their de minimis nature or because pursuing them would not effectuate the NLRA. 
SeeNLRB CASEHANDLING MANUAL, supra note 120, § 10122.2.

231 Collyer Insulated Wire, 192 N.L.R.B. 837 (1971); United Techs. Corp., 268 N.L.R.B. 557 . See
(1984). The Regional Director may also defer some charges under more lenient guidelines under 
Dubo Mfg. Corp., 142 N.L.R.B. 431 (1963). NLRB CASEHANDLING MANUAL, supranote 123, § 10118.1(c).
Dubo deferral was a historically disfavored route that was nonetheless revived during GC Robb’s
tenure, at his direction. NLRB General Counsel Memorandum 19-03 Deferral Under Dubo 
Manufacturing Company (Dec. 28, 2018), https://apps.nlrb.gov/link/document.aspx/09031d4582a
5c05e28, 2018), https://apps.nlrb.gov/link/document.aspx/09031d4582a5c05e [https://perma.cc
/5BJC-6CLK].  After President Joseph Biden discharged Robb, Acting GC Peter Sung Ohr rescinded 
Robb’s memo. NLRB General Counsel Memorandum 21-02 Rescission of Certain General Counsel 
Memoranda (Feb. 1, 2021), https://apps.nlrb.gov/link/document.aspx/09031d458336bc44 
[https://perma.cc/4USC-Q3V9].

232 NLRB CASEHANDLING MANUAL, supra note 120, §10200.2.. See
233. The Regional Director is not obligated to grant a withdrawal request, but refusals to per-

mit withdrawal of a charge are rare outside of the specific scenario where an RD finds a proposed 
private settlement to be grossly insufficient. Memorandum from Richard A. Siegel, Associate See
General Counsel, to all regional directors, officers-in charge, and resident officers of the NLRB 
(Dec. 27, 2006), https://apps.nlrb.gov/link/document.aspx/09031d458001253b [https://perma.cc
/9G5S-QPL2].
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cludes individuals from filing private actions in the courts. The entire 
process is cost-free for the discriminatee, including all litigation ex-
penses. Our anecdotal experience informed by our dealings with coun-
sel who practice in labor and employment law suggests that NLRB in-
vestigations are unusually expeditious yet can be quite thorough. To our 
knowledge, the NLRB is the only federal agency that, as a standard pro-
cedure, will take detailed sworn testimony from a charging party even 
before any assessment of the merits. In fiscal year 2020, the average 
time between the filing of a charge to a disposition was 73.8 days.234

In contrast, the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission 
(EEOC)—which enforces Title VII—initiates its process with an attempt 
toward mediation. If mediation is declined or unsuccessful, the EEOC 
takes an average of 10 months to investigate.235 Except in exceedingly 
weak cases or those for which there is no jurisdiction, or at the other 
end of the spectrum in the handful of cases that it litigates itself, EEOC 
investigations will normally result in a Notice of Right to Sue that au-
thorizes the discriminatee to pursue a lawsuit in court, without the 
EEOC as a formal party.236 The EEOC thus has a significant financial in-
terest in taking very few cases, because it may pass the costs of litiga-
tion onto individual charging parties. Unfortunately, the EEOC model 
appears to be more common than the NLRB model when it comes to the 
operations of other state and federal agencies that enforce employ-
ment-discrimination statutes. 

A. Hypothetical Case of Industrial Industries, Inc.

Garfield Examinari is a Field Examiner in the NLRB’s Area 51 Re-
gional Office. Examinari was recently assigned a charge alleging that 
Industrial Industries, Inc. discharged Rosie DeRiveter because of her 
support for United Riveting Riveters of America, in violation of Section 
8(a)(3) of the NLRA. DeRiveter’s affidavit explains that her discharge 
came as a surprise because she was the employer’s top performer for 
over a decade, and that she only began receiving discipline after an or-

234. Press Release, NLRB Off. of Pub. Affs., NLRB Closes Out FY 2020 With Favorable Case 
Processing Results (Oct. 30, 2020), https://www.nlrb.gov/news-outreach/news-story/nlrb-closes-
out-fy-2020-with-favorable-case-processing-results [https://perma.cc/9EHJ-8ZVK].

235. What You Can Expect After You File a Charge, U.S. EQUAL EMP. OPPORTUNITY COMM’N,
https://www.eeoc.gov/what-you-can-expect-after-you-file-charge [https://perma.cc/DL9X-
HTQB] (last visited Sep. 5, 2022).

236 (“If we cannot reach a settlement, your case will be referred to our legal staff (or the . See id. 
Department of Justice in certain cases), who will decide whether the agency should file a lawsuit. If 
we decide not to file a lawsuit, we will give you a Notice of Right to Sue.”).
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ganizing campaign during which she leafletted in the employer’s park-
ing lot to promote unionization as a means of improving safety proto-
cols on the assembly line. Since she began wearing union insignia, the 
employer disciplined her three times within the span of two months for 
placing widgets in the wrong receptacle. Corroborated affidavit testi-
mony from her coworkers confirmed that this was common practice be-
cause the receptacle used by DeRiveter was better suited to the transfer 
of widgets to the next stage of the assembly line. After the fourth widget 
misplacement, the employer discharged DeRiveter pursuant to the 
fourth stage of its progressive disciplinary policy.

Thanks to advice by the experienced labor counsel at Lawyer & At-
torney, P.C., none of the employer’s supervisors even so much as men-
tioned the union or the leafleting at the workplace. Instead, the em-
ployer hired consultants from Union Busters, LLC, a firm that 
specializes in subtle and covert tactics to identify prominent union sup-
porters and disseminate right-wing and anti-union propaganda to their 
coworkers. But DeRiveter herself never interacted with the consultants, 
and the witnesses who did engage with them declined to cooperate in 
the investigation—out of fear of retaliation. 

In its defense against the NLRB charge, the employer supplied Re-
gion 51 with a four-page position statement, the widget-placement poli-
cy, all of DeRiveter’s disciplinary documents, and two examples of em-
ployees who were discharged for widget-placement infractions several 
years ago. The employer failed to fully cooperate in the investigation, 
declining requests to take affidavits from key witnesses. The position 
statement contended that the employer lacked knowledge of DeRivet-
er’s union activity because employees routinely distributed leaflets in 
the parking lot regarding political campaigns and barbecues, including 
on the very day DeRiveter had been leafleting. None of those other em-
ployees had been disciplined. Further, DeRiveter herself admits to hav-
ing used the wrong widget-receptacle, and the employer claimed to 
have video camera evidence thereof.237 There was no evidence of anti-
Section 7 animus aside from the employer’s hiring of Union Busters, let 
alone direct evidence of unfair labor practices committed against De-
Riveter, to establish that her union insignia or protected activity was a 
motivating factor in the decision to discharge her. And even assuming 
arguendo that the leafleting was a motivating factor, the employer con-
tended that it met its Wright Line burden because it had a clear widget-

237. Examinari requested that the Regional Director issue an investigative subpoena to obtain 
the video footage. His request was denied because the Regional Director was concerned that ag-
gressively enforcing the NLRA would compromise the neutrality of the Region and hurt the man-
agement bar’s feelings.
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placement policy, it followed a progressive disciplinary policy, and it 
had a record of disciplining employees pursuant to that policy.

Examinari’s docket contains twenty-five active cases, and DeRivet-
er’s is his weakest by far because of the employer’s Wright Line defense 
and the lack of explicit animus. He must make judgment calls as to 
which cases deserve the most resources, lest he waste taxpayer money 
by over-investigating cases that the Regional Director is unlikely to find 
meritorious under extant law. Thus, upon obtaining the employer’s de-
fense, he submitted the case to the Regional Director with a recom-
mendation to dismiss. The Regional Director dismissed the case, noting 
the weak evidence of knowledge, absence of evidence of particularized 
animus, and strong Wright Line defense. The union appealed the dis-
missal, but the General Counsel upheld the decision three months later. 

Though the foregoing scenario might sound far-fetched, it is en-
tirely plausible given the NLRB’s continued lack of resources and its 
push for more efficient case processing.238 Under the Trump admin-
istration, Regional offices faced precipitous cuts in staff due to early-
retirement incentives and failure to fill vacancies, increasing investigat-
ing agents’ and trial attorneys’ workloads.239 From 2010 until 2019, the 
NLRB has experienced a 26% decline in staffing.240 As noted above, the 
NLRB has received flat funding of $274 million since 2014, amounting to 
a de facto decrease due to inflation.241 Given these resource constraints, 
a reasonable Regional Director might reserve only airtight cases for 
complaint issuance, despite the “preponderance of the testimony”
standard imposed by the statute.242 And, as we have explained, the over-
simplicity of Wright Line might result in well-meaning Regions making 
determinations under an incomplete evidentiary record.243

238. NLRB General Counsel Memorandum 19-02 Reducing Case Processing Time (Dec. 7, 
2018), https://apps.nlrb.gov/link/document.aspx/09031d4582a0f839 [https://perma.cc/7ZUJ-PVCS] 
(emphasizing the speedy investigation of all charges and replacing the decades-old system by 
which cases were prioritized by their impact on employees).

239. U.S. GOV’T ACCOUNTABILITY OFF., GAO-21-242, NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD:
MEANINGFUL PERFORMANCE MEASURES COULD HELP IMPROVE CASE QUALITY, ORGANIZATIONAL 
EXCELLENCE, AND RESOURCE MANAGEMENT (2021), https://www.gao.gov/assets/720/713434.pdf
[https://perma.cc/9WED-T4XR].

240. See id. at 13.
241. Id. at 5. See also H.R. Res. 2471, 117th (2022) (enacted) (Consolidated Appropriations Act 

funding NLRB at $274,224,000).
242. 29 U.S.C § 160(c) .
243. Nonetheless, on July 22, 2021, Jennifer Abruzzo was sworn in as GC and has since issued a 

spate of memoranda seeking to undo some of Robb’s policies. See General Counsel Memorandum 
21-04, Mandatory Submissions to Advice (Aug. 12, 2021), https://apps.nlrb.gov/link/document.aspx
/09031d4583506e0c [https://perma.cc/HG5Q-FGHA]; Memorandum from Jennifer A. Abruzzo, 
General Counsel, to all regional directors, officers-in-charge, and resident officers of the NLRB 
(Aug. 19, 2021), https://apps.nlrb.gov/link/document.aspx/09031d458351637c [https://perma.cc
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How might DeRiveter have fared under our test? For one, her initial
burden would have been perfectly fine, and thus Examinari would not 
have perceived her case as a weak one that could easily be overcome by 
any colorable Wright Line defense. She engaged in clear Section 7 activity 
and the employer had generalized, though not particularized, union an-
imus. The weak evidence of employer knowledge of DeRiveter’s union 
activities would be less of a concern because knowledge would no longer 
be a required element of the initial showing. Accordingly, the RD would 
have found a violation of Section 8(a)(3), shifting the burden for remedi-
al purposes.

Next, rather than simply submitting the case for dismissal upon re-
ceipt of the employer’s colorable defense, Examinari might have 
combed through the evidence to evaluate pretext. In so doing, DeRivet-
er may have satisfied her rebuttal burden by showing that the employer 
targeted or monitored her with the deliberate intent to find an excuse to 
undertake the managerial decision. Examinari would have had to probe 
more deeply into the comparator evidence, interrogating why the em-
ployer had not disciplined employees pursuant to the widget-placement 
policy for several years but suddenly began taking the policy seriously 
upon the initiation of the union campaign. The deeper investigation 
may have revealed that the supervisor who enforced the widget-
placement policy several years ago had long left the company, after 
which the new supervisor actively encouraged subversion of the policy 
in order to maintain production targets. Thus, our test would have 
compelled a deeper investigation and healthy skepticism, and it might 
have precluded Examinari from swiftly recommending dismissal to the 
RD shortly upon receipt of a colorable Wright Line defense. DeRiveter 
would have gotten her day in court. 

Needless to say, this hypothetical example addresses the cases that 
never see an Administrative Law Judge or the Board because of the 

/Z6QH-WR3U] (Memorandum GC 21-05, Utilization of Section 10(j) Proceedings); Memorandum 
from Jennifer A. Abruzzo, General Counsel, to all regional directors, officers-in-charge, and resi-
dent officers of the NLRB (Sept. 8, 2021), https://apps.nlrb.gov/link/document.aspx
/09031d458353f6b9 (Memorandum GC 21-06, Seeking Full Remedies); Memorandum from Jennifer 
A. Abruzzo, General Counsel, to all regional directors, officers-in-charge, and resident officers of 
the NLRB (Sept. 15, 2021), https://apps.nlrb.gov/link/document.aspx/09031d458354fad5 (Memo-
randum GC 21-07, Full Remedies in Settlement Agreements); Memorandum from Jennifer A. 
Abruzzo, General Counsel, to all regional directors, officers-in-charge, and resident officers of the 
NLRB (Feb. 1, 2022), https://apps.nlrb.gov/link/document.aspx/09031d4583683bd0 (Memorandum 
22-02, Seeking 10(j) Injunctions in Response to Unlawful Threats or Other Coercion During Union 
Organizing Campaigns); Memorandum from Jennifer A. Abruzzo, General Counsel, to all regional 
directors, officers-in-charge, and resident officers of the NLRB, (Apr. 7, 2022), https://apps.
nlrb.gov/link/document.aspx/09031d458372316b (Memorandum GC 22-04, The Right to Refrain 
from Captive Audience and other Mandatory Meetings).
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unique means by which the United States processes unfair labor prac-
tices under the NLRA. We now turn to a recent real-life example of how 
the Wright Line test is applied by a judge and the Board, which demon-
strates how our proposed test might have produced a more just result.  

B. Case Study: Watco Transloading, 369 N.L.R.B. No. 93 (May 29, 2020) 

Since October 2013, Watco Transloading has facilitated the transfer 
of railborne petroleum products at a Philadelphia refinery where it em-
ployed about twenty-one employees.244 In 2014, a Watco supervisor wit-
nessed car-person Dennis Roscoe and engineer John D. Peters sign au-
thorization cards in the parking lot outside the facility’s exit gates, 
alongside an organizer for United Steelworkers Local 10-1.245 The Ad-
ministrative Law Judge found that Watco violated Section 8(a)(1) of the 
NLRA by promising benefits, such as better weather gear and higher 
wages to employees, and by buying employees lunch on a more frequent 
basis than it had previously.246 The conduct occurred mere days before 
an NLRB election.247 The Administrative Law Judge also found that the 
Employer had discriminated against employees in violation of Section 
8(a)(3) and (1) by discharging Peters and Roscoe, suspending Roscoe for 
14 days, and issuing two warnings to Roscoe.248 The union lost the elec-
tion, it did not file objections, and thus it never became the employ-
ees’ certified representative.249 The Board adopted the Administrative 
Law Judge’s promise-of-benefits finding, reversed her discrimination 
findings, and found an additional 8(a)(1) violation for Watco’s solicita-
tion of grievances. We now focus on each discriminatee in turn to illus-
trate how our proposed test might have operated in this case.

1. Judge’s Decision Regarding Peters

Peters was one of the employer’s initial hires and possessed a valua-
ble skillset.250 On August 1, 2014, Peters was the subject of threatening, 
harassing, and disparaging texts by a coworker named Leroy Hender-

244. Watco Transloading, 369 N.L.R.B. No. 93, slip op. at 2 (May 29, 2020).
245 at 2.. Id.
246 at 16, 18.. Id.
247 at 5.. Id.
248 at 16–18.. Id.
249 at 7.. Id.
250 at 2.. Id.
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son.251 He complained about these texts to a supervisor, but Watco nev-
er investigated the situation.252 On August 4, a coworker falsely in-
formed the employer’s human resources department that Peters had 
repeatedly referred to him as a homosexual and had called him a homo-
phobic slur.253 Peters denied having made the remarks.254 On August 5 
and 6, the employer completed an investigation into Peters’s alleged 
misconduct.255 On August 21, Watco witnessed Peters and Roscoe sign 
authorization cards.256 On August 26, Watco informed Peters that he 
had violated the employer’s sexual-harassment policy and would be dis-
charged.257 Peters had no prior warnings for similar behavior, and he 
was discharged upon a first offense despite Watco’s progressive disci-
plinary policy.258 After he was discharged, Peters filed an internal ap-
peal, prompting Watco to continue its investigation of the harassment 
allegations against him.259 The internal appeal was ultimately dis-
missed.260

The Administrative Law Judge found Peters’s discharge violated 
Section 8(a)(3) and (1) of the NLRA.261 First, she found that it was “per-
fectly clear” that Watco knew Peters signed union authorization cards
to coworkers.262 The Administrative Law Judge also emphasized the in-
credibility of Watco’s witnesses, who fashioned an improbable se-
quence of the events leading up to the discharge and failed to produce 
documentary substantiation of the process by which they decided to 
discharge Peters.263 Watco’s witnesses gave self-serving testimony that 
the decision was made during a conference call a week before the dis-
charge, but there were no emails, notes, or memoranda regarding what 
was discussed in this call.264 The Administrative Law Judge felt com-
pelled to credit Peters over Watco’s witnesses, as none of the employees 
interviewed by the employer during its investigation testified at the 
hearing, including the alleged victim of Peters’s conduct.265 Further, the 

251 at 12.. Id.
252. Id.
253. Id.
254 at 13.. Id.
255. Id.
256 at 14.. Id. 
257 at 2.. Id.
258 at 15.. Id. 
259 at 3.. Id.
260. Id.
261. Id. at 14–15, 19.
262 at 14.. Id.
263 at 15.. See id.
264 at 14.. Id.
265 at 13 n.5.. Id.
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Administrative Law Judge found it suspicious that Watco would renew 
its investigation of Peters’s alleged harassment after-the-fact, given 
that Watco had claimed to have already conducted an investigation that 
was sufficient to warrant discharging Peters.266

The Administrative Law Judge did not mention any policy prohibit-
ing Peters’s conduct, even though the record contained an employee 
handbook with a relevant provision on sexual harassment. Nor did the 
Administrative Law Judge address the fact that Watco did not produce 
similarly situated employees who had been discharged for comparable 
conduct pursuant to the same policy, or upon a first offense pursuant to 
some other policy. 

2. The Board’s Decision Regarding Peters

More than five years after Peters was discharged, the Board re-
versed the Administrative Law Judge’s finding of discrimination. Like 
the Administrative Law Judge, the Board did not even address whether 
other similarly situated employees had been discharged pursuant to 
similar conduct or similar employer policies. The Board failed to con-
sider the Judge’s points regarding Watco’s failure to abide by its own 
progressive disciplinary system, and it did not mention Peters’s clean 
disciplinary record. Rejecting the General Counsel’s and the union’s
contentions that Peters was subject to disparate treatment given 
coworker Leroy Henderson’s text messages, the Board stated that even 
though the texts were “opprobrious,” neither the General Counsel nor 
the union excepted the Administrative Law Judge’s failure to find pre-
text or disparate treatment.267 Characterizing Henderson’s “angry, vul-
gar text messages” as “a largely incoherent ramble,” the Board found 
Henderson’s conduct incomparable to Peters’s sustained and repeated 
in-person remarks in the workplace regarding his coworker’s sexual 
orientation.268 While the Board conceded that the close timing between 
the union activity and the discharge warranted additional scrutiny, it 
accused the Administrative Law Judge of “impermissibly impos[ing] her 
own judgment as to how and when the Respondent should have con-
ducted the investigation and discharge of Peters.”269 Thus, Watco’s “ac-
tions here were consistent with a bona fide effort to determine the va-

266 at 13, 15.. Id.
267 at 3 n.14.. Id.
268. Id. at 3.
269. Id. at 4.
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lidity of serious allegations against Peters,” and the Board dismissed the 
complaint allegation.270

3. Applying Our Test to Peters

How would Peters have fared under our proposed test? As we have 
discussed above, any case involving union activity that arrives on the 
Board’s docket will usually have a strong initial showing of discrimina-
tion under Wright Line given the rigidities of the investigation process 
prior to which a decision to issue a complaint is made. As such, we fo-
cus on how the employer burden and second General Counsel burdens 
in our test might have produced a different result.

Under our proposed test, Watco would have failed to meet its bur-
den regarding Peters’s discharge. Watco had a lawful sexual-
harassment policy that it invoked to discharge Peters. However, the 
record testimony, especially given the credibility resolutions of the 
judge, suggest that Peters did not, in fact, engage in the infraction for 
which he was accused. Watco produced no evidence of a history of en-
forcing its policy against similarly situated individuals, and it did not 
show that no such incidents had previously occurred. Nor was there ev-
idence that the employer had taken affirmative steps toward imple-
menting the managerial decision before the Section 7 activity, of which 
the Administrative Law Judge found that Watco was aware. Finally, be-
cause Watco did not produce evidence that Peters engaged in that activ-
ity during working time or in working areas, there was no evidence that 
the Section 7 activity was unprotected. Accordingly, the burden would 
not have shifted back to the General Counsel, and Peters would have 
been eligible for a full remedy under the Section 8(a)(3) violation that 
had been established from the initial burden. 

4. Judge’s Decision Regarding Roscoe

Roscoe began working as a car-person for Watco in April 2014.271 On 
July 29, he handed Terminal Manager Brian Spiller a letter about the 
employer’s failure to promote Black car-persons, complaining that 
white coworker Mike Onaskanych was promoted noncompetitively to a 
lead position and that two of Onaskanych’s sons were hired to do the 
same work as Black employees despite their relatively lower experi-

270. Id.
271. Id.
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ence.272 Spiller and other car-persons met with Roscoe regarding his let-
ter, and Roscoe was told that the employer had no obligation to post po-
sitions so as to make employees aware of vacancies.273

On separate occasions in early August, Roscoe saw Shift Supervisor 
Joe Ryder and Onuskanych smoking in an area that posed a safety haz-
ard.274 Watco had a policy, posted on bulletin boards, prohibiting smok-
ing in that area. Roscoe confronted Ryder, who told Roscoe that he was 
the boss and that Roscoe could not tell him what to do.275 Roscoe also 
reported the behavior to another supervisor and recommended that 
that supervisor issue a memo to employees reminding them to smoke 
only in the designated smoking hut.276 On August 13, Roscoe reported 
the incidents to the Safety Coordinator on the site, reported on the em-
ployer’s website that employees were smoking in unauthorized areas, 
and sent the employer an email regarding the “life-threatening and 
hazardous situation.”277 The employer subsequently posted a notice to 
employees reminding them of the policy, and it also spoke to the em-
ployees who had violated the policy.278

On August 15, Roscoe worked past his end time to repair a train car 
and to brief his relief on the next shift regarding other necessary re-
pairs.279 Because Roscoe’s cell phone was in the trailer, he missed cer-
tain texts sent by his supervisor, Ryder.280 Ryder later ordered Roscoe to 
come to the supervisors’ trailer, where Ryder told Roscoe to go home 
because Roscoe’s relief had arrived and Ryder didn’t want Roscoe work-
ing overtime.281 Roscoe explained why he needed to stay in order to fix a 
pin and complete paperwork.282 Ryder agreed, and Roscoe worked for 
about another hour.283

On August 21, Peters and Roscoe signed authorization cards along-
side a union organizer.284 That day, Roscoe was given a warning for in-
subordination due to the overtime incident on August 15, and another 
warning due to the quality of his work.285 The Administrative Law Judge 

272. Id.
273 at 12.. Id.
274 at 13.. Id.
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found that there was no evidence that the employer knew of his union 
activity before he received his warnings.286

On September 23, ten days before the scheduled representation 
election, Watco sent Roscoe home following disputes with the lead car-
person and a supervisor.287 According to Watco, Roscoe had accused his 
coworker of performing oral sex on management, and said as much 
with obscene gestures, in exchange for reporting to work on an un-
scheduled day to work overtime.288 According to Roscoe, his coworker’s
presence was unnecessary for the work that day, and Roscoe threatened 
to call human resources.289 After sending Roscoe home, the employer 
conducted an investigation including interviews with seven employ-
ees.290 Only three of those seven testified at the trial, including Roscoe 
and Peters, and only Roscoe was asked at trial about the events of Sep-
tember 23.291

On October 2, the day before the election, Roscoe was called into 
work and given a final written warning, a 14-day unpaid suspension, 
and a placement on a performance-improvement plan because of his 
inappropriate gestures of a sexual nature.292 On October 3, the union 
lost the election by a vote of 13-3.293 The union did not file objections, 
and Roscoe returned from his suspension October 7.294 About October 9, 
coworker Henderson complained that Roscoe pulled his car next to 
Henderson’s and started cursing and threatening.295 By email dated Oc-
tober 11, Watco discharged Roscoe.296

The Administrative Law Judge found that all of Watco’s adverse ac-
tions toward Roscoe violated Section 8(a)(3) and (1) of the NLRA. She re-
jected the employer’s Wright Line defense of the two August 15 warn-
ings, finding that Roscoe’s complaints about race discrimination and 

286 at 16. We note, however, that given the timing of the overtime incident in relation to . Id.
Roscoe’s occupational-safety complaints, it is entirely possible—even probable—that the August 21 
warning violated the Occupational Safety and Health Act. 29 U.S.C. ch. 15 § 651 et seq. Although a 
discussion of the problem is beyond the scope of this Article, we note that a major defect of federal 
labor law is the difficulty employees face when confronted with “intersectional” discrimination that 
straddles two (or, arguably, three—remember that one of the supervisors Roscoe complained 
about also had a potential motive to retaliate against him for his complaints about race discrimina-
tion) federal statutes.
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smoking safety constituted protected concerted activity.297 She also 
found that Roscoe’s August 15 conduct was consistent with past practice 
in the facility and thus did not constitute insubordination or poor work 
performance.298 Animus was established because the employer prom-
ised benefits in exchange for voting against the union, as well as the 
suspicious timing of Roscoe’s suspension amid the election.299 The Ad-
ministrative Law Judge found that Watco’s defense of the suspension 
was pretextual because Watco did not have a good-faith belief that Ros-
coe made the obscene sexual gesture, emphasizing Watco’s reliance on 
hearsay and failure to call the employee directly affected as a witness.300

Finally, the Administrative Law Judge found that there were three com-
peting versions of the reasons for Roscoe’s discharge, no documents to 
substantiate any of the versions, and no testimony from two relevant 
witnesses regarding the October 9 events.301 Those facts, plus a finding 
that the discharge was tainted by the 14-day discriminatory suspension, 
led the Administrative Law Judge to find that the employer had not met 
its Wright Line burden regarding Roscoe’s discharge.302

5.Board’s decision Regarding Roscoe

The Board reversed on all of the allegations regarding Roscoe.303

Though it found his complaint about race discrimination to constitute 
protected concerted activity, it found a lack of animus against that ac-
tivity because the Terminal Manager promptly discussed the race issues 
with coworkers and did not display animosity during that discussion.304

The Board found that Roscoe’s safety complaints were not concerted be-
cause there was no evidence that Roscoe discussed the matter with 
coworkers or contemplated group action.305 The suspension was con-
sistent with Watco’s handbook provisions for the misconduct, which 
was substantiated by the employer’s investigation.306 Because of corrob-
orated testimony that Roscoe cursed at Henderson and made threats, 
including a threat involving the welfare of his children, the Board found 

297 –. Id. at 16 18.
298. Id. at 17.
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that the employer legitimately relied on a good-faith belief that Roscoe 
engaged in a dischargeable offense.307 The Board did not mention the 
employer’s progressive disciplinary policy or inquire as to whether em-
ployees were discharged for similar offenses. Nor did it substantively 
address the adverse inferences drawn by the judge as to witnesses who 
did not testify, despite clear Board law drawing adverse inferences in 
such circumstances.308

6. Applying Our Test to Roscoe

While Roscoe’s is a closer case due to his brief work history and ar-
guably more serious misconduct, we nonetheless believe that our test 
would have resulted in an analysis that more thoroughly probed the ma-
terial issues. For starters, the Board would not have been able to find 
that Roscoe did not meet his initial burden regarding his warnings on 
the basis of his smoking-related safety complaints not having been con-
certed. Those safety complaints at least implicate the concerns in Sec-
tion 7 and therefore would satisfy the initial burden in our test, estab-
lishing a violation of Section 8(a)(1) and (3). Concededly, the employer 
could perhaps have met its second-stage burden regarding the disci-
pline before the distribution of authorization cards by establishing a 
lack of concertedness for mutual aid and protection within the meaning 
of Section 7. Next, both the ALJ and the Board failed to mention the lack 
of comparator evidence and failed to consider the longstanding recog-
nition that tempers run high amid the employee-employer power im-
balance and thus the language of the shop is not the language of polite 
society.309 Finally, the ALJ summarily found Watco’s defenses pretextual 
and discredited Watco’s witnesses, yet the Board rejected such findings 
for questionable reasons. Our test would have required a thorough 

307 at 8.. Id.
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Cir. 1988); Roosevelt Memorial Medical Center, 348 N.L.R.B. 1016, 1022 (2006); Martin Luther King, 
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warrant an adverse inference. See Advanced Installations, 257 N.L.R.B. 845, 849 (1981); Colorflo 
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inference of animus. See Medic One, Inc., 331 N.L.R.B. 464, 475 (2000); Lampi LLC, 327 N.L.R.B. 
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Cir. 1976)).



60 University of Michigan Journal of Law Reform [Vol. 56:1

analysis of pretext that would have given the Board more information to 
consider. In sum, though Roscoe may not necessarily have received re-
instatement and backpay under our test with all compositions of Board 
members, our test would likely have caused the case to have been liti-
gated differently and would have at the very least, established violations 
of Section 8(a)(1) and (3). The record would have then contained richer 
material with which the Administrative Law Judge and Board could 
have engaged in a deeper analysis of the relevant remedial considera-
tions. 

IX. RESPONSES TO POTENTIAL CRITICISM

In this section, we respond to three critiques of our proposed test. 
The first critique is that our test would make it too easy for charging 
parties to initiate the NLRB process, saddling employers with frivolous 
expenses. Our response centers on Section 1 of the NLRA, arguing that 
increased costs are a small price to pay for the proper effectuation of the 
statute. Another critique is that our test is lengthy and cumbersome, 
undermining the doctrine of at-will employment by requiring employ-
ers to needlessly justify their entrepreneurial decisions. Our response is 
that it is not always possible to devise a test that is both true to the stat-
ute and succinct; Wright Line’s pithiness does not compensate for its in-
adequacy. Third, one could argue that our test is at odds with the Ad-
ministrative Procedure Act (APA) and Supreme Court jurisprudence by 
requiring employers to proffer more substantial defenses. We argue 
that our test is consistent with the APA and goes no further than the 
limits of Section 10 of the NLRA. We will address each of these objec-
tions in turn, and then we will address a proposal from Professor 
Charles Morris and explain how it lacks teeth without an improvement 
to the Wright Line test. 

A. Section 1 of the NLRA Justifies the Potential for Increased Litigation 

Employers might object that our test lowers the bar for an initial 
showing of discrimination, which could result in more frivolous charges 
filed, more frivolous complaints issued, and therefore increased legal 
costs. However, charging parties who are aware of the NLRB process 
already file charges that lack merit, and it is not clear that they would 
possess such a nuanced understanding of labor law that they would file 
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additional charges if our test were implemented.310 It is more likely that 
parties already err on the side of filing charges even when there is mere 
suspicion of Section 7 discrimination, irrespective of any considerations 
of how a Region will handle the charge and what the current Board law 
is. 

At any rate, an increase in charge-filing rates would be consistent 
with the statutory purpose of the NLRA. Section 1 of the NLRA provides 
that it shall be “the policy of the United States to encourage collective 
bargaining and to guarantee employees the freedom of association.”311

Expanding Section 7 rights, including through increased enforcement, 
is well within the scope of the statutory mission of the NLRB.312 The goal 
for our test is to bring to justice those employers who are already violat-
ing the plain language of the statute, not to penalize innocent bystand-
ers. Even assuming arguendo that our test might increase the charge-
filing rate, that would not necessarily entail a surge in frivolous charges. 
Therefore, our test would only result in increased legal costs for em-
ployers because they would no longer be able to easily escape the conse-
quences of their already-discriminatory conduct.

B. We Strive for the Correct Test, Not One That is Expedient

Another objection is that Wright Line is an elegantly simple two-
sentence test compared to our multi-paragraph analysis. Wright Line
decisions can be rendered more quickly by adjudicators without getting 
tangled in the weeds that we would require those adjudicators to con-
sider. Further, requiring employers to proffer more robust defenses 
might have them walk on eggshells not to violate the NLRA. Such would 
also incentivize excessive record-keeping in order to prevent false posi-

310. In fiscal year 2020, the GC found meritorious only 35.2% of the 15,869 unfair-labor-
practice charges filed. NLRB FY2020 PERFORMANCE ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT, supra note 10, at 30.

311. 29 U.S.C. § 151.
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tives in situations where an employer is unable to meet its burden de-
spite the true absence of anti-Section 7 animus. Accordingly, our test 
might disrupt the flow of commerce by causing employers to be more 
vigilant and cautious about hiring and firing, rendering obsolete the 
doctrine of at-will employment. 

The reason this critique ultimately does not persuade us is, as noted 
above, that the NLRA is notoriously underenforced.313 Extant caselaw 
does not sufficiently deter employers from violating it. The prospect of 
additional 10(j) litigation, while promising from an enforcement stand-
point, poses no additional deterrent because injunctive relief, being 
purely prospective in nature by definition, has no deterrent effect cur-
rently.314 The only way to better encourage employers not to violate the 
NLRA is to adjust the economic incentives by making it more likely that 
unfair labor practices will be uncovered and cured.

Consider three hypothetical treatment options for a disease, none 
of which can be combined. Treatment A is inexpensive, painless, and 
51% effective within weeks, but those for whom the treatment is ineffec-
tive invariably die. Treatment B is 90% effective, and the 10% for whom 
it is ineffective will not die despite continuing to exhibit symptoms, but 
the treatment takes several months and is expensive and painful. 
Treatment C is 75% effective, and the 25% for whom it is ineffective may 
either continue exhibiting symptoms or could—but will not necessari-
ly—die. Relative to treatments A and B, treatment C is average in cost, 
duration, and painfulness. Now assume that the effectiveness-
percentages of these treatments correspond to the rate at which true 
NLRA discrimination is captured by application of a given test. 

We contend that treatment A is Wright Line, which may work more 
than half the time and with great efficiency, but leaves almost half of 
discriminatees with no recourse when it fails. Treatment B, on the other 
hand, would represent an overcorrection to Wright Line that is exces-
sively burdensome to employers and creates “false positives” because it 
is unjustifiably forgiving to charging parties. Our test strives to be 
treatment C, which works the vast majority of the time without gener-
ating false positives and without adding significant financial cost, emo-
tional burden, or delay. 

The relative ease of applying Wright Line comes at the expense of ac-
curacy. We do not think that this is a justifiable tradeoff for such im-
portant worker protections. 

313. See supra note 5 and accompanying text.
314 Morris, supra note 12.. Cf.
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C. Our Test is Consistent with Supreme Court Jurisprudence 

One final objection is that our test fails to accept extant law on at-
will employment and the proper allocations of the burden of proof un-
der the Administrative Procedure Act (APA). Section 7(c) of the APA 
states that “[e]xcept as otherwise provided by statute, the proponent of
a rule or order has the burden of proof.” In Director, Office of Workers 
Compensation Programs, Department of Labor v. Greenwich Collieries,315 the 
Supreme Court addressed whether Transportation Management 316 ran 
afoul of the APA by requiring the employer to satisfy a burden of per-
suasion even though the employer was not the moving party in the dis-
pute. Greenwich Collieries clarified that § 7(c) of the APA is a burden of 
persuasion, not merely one of production, that is consistent with the 
Wright Line burden-shifting framework because the burden only shifts 
after the General Counsel itself has satisfied its own burden of persua-
sion.317

So too with our test. The initial burden is a sufficient hurdle that 
would square with Greenwich Collieries for APA § 7(c) purposes. The key 
point is that the General Counsel’s burden is only to prove facts from 
which a tendency to discourage (or encourage, in rare cases) union ac-
tivity can be drawn, consistent with the Board’s established under-
standings of employers’ economic incentives. Once that tendency is 
shown, the burden shifts to the employer to establish cause consistent 
with Section 10(c), only for remedial purposes.

The employer’s burden provides numerous avenues to escape liabil-
ity that do not require excessive record keeping, including a showing 
that no similar policy violations have existed, or a showing that the de-
cision to implement the personnel action pre-dated the Section 7 activi-
ty. Indeed, our test simply makes clearer the evidentiary means by 
which an employer’s motive for a personnel action—whether good, bad, 
or without reason—can be established. Finally, as we have previously 
argued, Section 10(c) of the NLRA already contemplates a just-cause re-
quirement for remedial considerations. Our test would simply empha-
size that long-ignored requirement.

315. 512 U.S. 267, 276–78 (1994).
316. NLRB v. Transportation Mgmt. Corp., 462 U.S. 393, 401 (1983).
317. Id.
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D. Charles Morris’s Proposed Reforms

Pointing to the Railway Labor Act’s generally successful track rec-
ord of blocking discriminatory discharges, Professor Charles J. Morris 
contends that increasing the injunctive activity of the NLRB would deter 
employers from discriminating against employees because of the costs 
and consequences of becoming a defendant in a federal district court. 318

Morris proposes that the NLRB delegate the General Counsel the au-
thority to independently and swiftly seek injunctions under Section 10(j) 
of the NLRA, eliminating some of the bureaucratic stumbling blocks 
that ordinarily impede petitioning a district court for a preliminary re-
instatement order.319

While we endorse Morris’s proposal, it will fail if the causation test 
for issuing a discriminatory-discharge complaint remains as strongly 
pro-employer as it currently is. No complaint, no injunction—it is that 
simple.320 As we explored in Part 5 of this Article, over 90% of the NLRA’s
discrimination claims are disposed of in the NLRB’s Regional Offices, 
who investigate charges and attempt to settle the dispute before any 
hearing.321 If the employer wins the battle because a Regional Director 
dismisses the case, the charging party’s only hope is to file an appeal in 
the hopes that, several months later, the General Counsel remands the 
case to the Region.322 By then, the damage is done, and the General 
Counsel is unlikely to satisfy the “irreparable harm” prong that most ju-
risdictions require for a preliminary injunction. 323 If the Regions use a 
flawed test to analyze discrimination, the charging party may never get 
its day in court. Put bluntly: the problem is even worse than Morris por-
trays it, because the limitations of Wright Line make cases where an em-
ployee was, in fact, discharged for union activity slip through the 
cracks. 

318. Morris, 12, 295.supra note at 
319. Id.

320. 29 U.S.C. § 160(j) (requiring issuance of complaint prior to application for injunctive re-
lief).

321. The settlement rate was 96% in fiscal year 2020. Of 5,236 cases that settled, 89.2% settled 
before a complaint was issued, suggesting confidence in the NLRB’s investigative processes. See
NLRB FY2020 PERFORMANCE ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT, supra note 13, at 7.

322. See generally 29 C.F.R. § 102.19 (describing the internal appeals process).
323. Winter v. NRDC, Inc., 555 U.S. 7, 20 (2008).
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X. CONCLUSION

We hope to have established that modifications to the Wright Line
test are long overdue, better comport with the language of the NLRA, 
and honor relevant considerations in Supreme Court jurisprudence on 
employment discrimination. Our revisions would force adjudicators to 
engage in more thorough analyses that would better arrive at the truth, 
obviating lengthy and costly litigation. Contrary to others’ solutions for 
NLRA reform, our proposal would make its greatest impact during the 
investigative stage of the NLRB process. A lightened initial burden for 
NLRA discrimination will enable presently overlooked discriminatees to 
obtain relief pre-trial, which is when most NLRB cases are disposed of,
and allow others to proceed to adjudication. While our proposal will not 
solve all the problems in the NLRA-discrimination arena, our experi-
ence as practitioners suggests that these modest revisions will prevent 
swaths of 8(a)(1) and 8(a)(3) violations from slipping through the cracks. 
Combined with necessary legislative reforms, our test would thrust the 
NLRA into the 21st century to fulfill its original objective of promoting 
collective bargaining.
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